# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

# FORM SC 13D

Schedule filed to report acquisition of beneficial ownership of 5% or more of a class of equity securities

> Filing Date: 2019-07-02 SEC Accession No. 0001493152-19-010087

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

# SUBJECT COMPANY

## PECK Co HOLDINGS, INC.

CIK:1634447 IRS No.: 422150172 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: SC 13D | Act: 34 | File No.: 005-89426 | Film No.: 19935278

SIC: 4932 Gas & other services combined

Mailing Address SOUTH BURLINGTON VT

05403

**Business Address** 4050 WILLISTON ROAD, #5114050 WILLISTON ROAD, #511 SOUTH BURLINGTON VT 05403 802-658-3378

# **FILED BY**

**Peck Jeffrey** 

CIK:1781227 Type: SC 13D Mailing Address 618 BRENNAN WOODS DRIVE WILLISTON VT 05495

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# **SCHEDULE 13D**

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )

# THE PECK COMPANY HOLDINGS, INC.

(Name of Issuer)

#### Common Stock

(Title of Class of Securities)

#### 705163103

(CUSIP Number)

Jeffrey Peck 4050 Williston Road, #511 South Burlington, VT 05403 (802) 658-3378

(Name, Address and Telephone Number of Person Authorized to Receive Notices and Communications)

#### June 20, 2019

(Date of Event which Requires Filing of this Statement)

If the filing person has previously filed a statement on Schedule 13G to report the acquisition which is the subject of this Schedule 13D, and is filing this schedule because of §§240.13d-1(e), 240.13d-1(f) or 240.13d-1(g), check the following box [ ].

NOTE: Schedules filed in paper format shall include a signed original and five copies of the schedule, including all exhibits. See §240.13d-7 for other parties to whom copies are to be sent.

\* The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting person's initial filing on this form with respect to the subject class of securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would alter disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required on the remainder of this cover page shall not be deemed to be "filed" for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Act") or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the Act but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act (however, see the Notes).

Page 2 of 18 Pages	

	NT C								
1	Names of reporting persons								
1.	Jeffrey Peck								
2.	Check the ap	propriat	e box if a member of group (See Instructions)	(a)[X]					
۷.				(b)[]					
	SEC use only	7							
3.	SEC use only	/							
J.									
	Source of fur	Source of funds (See Instructions)							
4.	Source of fur	ids (See	Thist detroits)						
	SC								
		losure o	of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)						
5.				[]					
	Citizenship o	r place	of organization						
6.									
	United States	3							
		7.	Sole voting power						
		l '							
			2,473,564 Shared voting power						
NUN	MBER OF								
	IARES	8.							
	FICIALLY		0						
	NED BY	9.	Sole dispositive power						
	EACH		1 406 074						
	ORTING ON WITH		1,406,974						
FERS	ON WITH	10	Shared dispositive power						
		10.	0						
	A garagata an	nount be	eneficially owned by each reporting person						
11.	Aggregate an	nount oc	encharry owned by each reporting person						
11.	2,473,564								
		aggrega	te amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)						
12.		Shock if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)							
				[]					
	Percent of cla	ass repre	esented by amount in row (11)						
13.			•						
	47.6%								
	Type of repor	rting per	rson (See Instructions)						
14.									
	N								

	CUSIP No.	. 705163	3103		13D	[	I	Page 3 of 18 Pa	ges
1.	Names of rep		oersons						
2.	Check the appropriate box if a member of group (See Instructions)  (a)[X]  (b) [ ]								
3.	SEC use only								
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC								
5.	Check if disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)								[]
6.		Citizenship or place of organization State of New York							
	•	7.	Sole voting pov	wer					
	MBER OF	8.	Shared voting p	power					

SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY

EACH REPORTING PERSON WITH

213,318

11.

12.

13.

14.

10.

213,318

Percent of class represented by amount in row (11)

Type of reporting person (See Instructions)

Sole dispositive power

Shared dispositive power

Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)

Aggregate amount beneficially owned by each reporting person

[]

	CUSIP No.	7051631	103	13D	Page 4 of 18 Pages				
1.	Names of rep Michael d'Aı		ersons						
2.	Check the appropriate box if a member of group (See Instructions)  (a)[2] (b) [								
3.	SEC use only	7							
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC								
5.	Check if disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)  [ ]								
6.	Citizenship or place of organization  United States								
		7.	Sole voting po	ower					
NUMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING		8.	Shared voting  0	power					
		9.	Sole dispositi 0	•					
PERS	ON WITH	10.	Shared dispos 213,318	_					
11.	Aggregate amount beneficially owned by each reporting person 213,318								
	Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)								

[]

12.

13.

14.

Percent of class represented by amount in row (11)

Type of reporting person (See Instructions)

	CUSIP No. 705163103	13D	Page 5 of 18 Pages
	Names of reporting persons		
1.			

1.	·	Names of reporting persons  Roger G. Branton								
2.	Check the ap	propriat	e box if a member of group (See Instructions)	(a)[X] (b) [ ]						
3.	SEC use only	I								
4.	Source of fur SC	nds (See	Instructions)							
5.	Check if disc	losure o	of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)	[ ]						
6.	Citizenship output	•	of organization							
		7.	Sole voting power 0							
SI	MBER OF HARES EFICIALLY	8.	Shared voting power 0							
I Rep	NED BY EACH FORTING	9.	Sole dispositive power 0							
PERS	ON WITH	10.	Shared dispositive power 335,976							
11.	Aggregate an 335,976	nount be	eneficially owned by each reporting person							
12.	Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)  [ ]									
13.	Percent of cla	ass repre	esented by amount in row (11)							
14.	Type of repor	rting per	rson (See Instructions)							

	CUSIP No. 705163103	13D	Page 6 of 18 Pages
1.	Names of reporting persons Branton Partners, LLC		
2.	Check the appropriate box if a mem	aber of group (See Instructions)	(a)[X (b) [
3.	SEC use only		
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC		
5.	Check if disclosure of legal proceed	lings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)	]
	Citizenship or place of organization		

3.	See use only									
4.	SC	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC								
5.			f legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)	[]						
6.	Citizenship of State of Delay		of organization							
		7.	Sole voting power 0							
SH	MBER OF HARES EFICIALLY	8.	Shared voting power 0							
REP	NED BY EACH PORTING	9.	Sole dispositive power 0							
PERS	SON WITH	10.	Shared dispositive power 335,976							
11.	Aggregate an 335,976	nount be	neficially owned by each reporting person							
12.	Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)									
13.	Percent of class represented by amount in row (11) 6.5%									
14.	Type of repor	ting per	son (See Instructions)							

	CUSIP No.	7051631	103			13D			Page 7 o	f 18 Pages	
1.	Names of rep		ersons								
2.	Check the appropriate box if a member of group (See Instructions)  (a)[X]  (b) [ ]										
3.	SEC use only										
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC										
5.	Check if disc	losure of	`legal proceed	lings is rec	quired pursi	uant to item	2(d) or 2(e)				[]
6.	Citizenship or place of organization United States										
		7.	Sole voting po	ower	_		_		_		
NUMBER OF SHARES  Shared voting power											

5.				[ ]			
6.	Citizenship or place of organization United States						
NII IN	ADED OF	7.	Sole voting power  0 Shared voting power				
NUMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY		8.	0 Sole dispositive power				
REP	EACH 9. ORTING ON WITH		0 Shared dispositive power				
		10.	335,976				
11.	Aggregate an 335,976	nount be	eneficially owned by each reporting person				
12.	Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)						
13.	Percent of class represented by amount in row (11)  6.5%						
14.	Type of repor	rting per	rson (See Instructions)				

	CUSIP No.	70516	3103	13D		Page 8 of 18 Pages		
1.	Names of rep							
2.	Check the appropriate box if a member of group (See Instructions)  (a)[X]  (b) [ ]							
3.	SEC use only							
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) SC							
5.	Check if disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)  [ ]							
6.	Citizenship or place of organization State of Delaware							
		7.	Sole voting power of the state	er				
NUMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY		8.	Shared voting po	ower				
OWNED BY  9. Sole dispositive power								

	CUSIP No.	705163	3103	13D	Page 9 of 18 Pages					
1.	Names of rep	0.1	persons							
2.	Check the ap	propriat	e box if a mem	ber of group (See Instructions)	(a)[X] (b)[]					
3.	SEC use only									
4.	Source of fur SC	nds (See	Instructions)							
5.	Check if disc	Check if disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)  [ ]								
6.	Citizenship o Sweden	r place	of organization							
		7.	Sole voting p	ower						
SI	MBER OF HARES EFICIALLY	8.	Shared voting 0	g power						
OWNED BY EACH REPORTING		9. Sole dispositive power 90,660								
PERS	SON WITH	Shared dispositive power  10.  0								
11.	Aggregate an 90,660	nount be	eneficially own	ed by each reporting person						

[]

Check if the aggregate amount in row (11) excludes certain shares (See Instructions)

Percent of class represented by amount in row (11)

Type of reporting person (See Instructions)

12.

13.

14.

00

	CUSIP No.	705163103	13D	Page 10 of 18 Pages			
1.	Names of rep Joseph Bobie	oorting persons er					
2.	Check the ap	propriate box if a mem	ber of group (See Instructions)	(a)[X] (b)[]			
3.	SEC use only						
4.	Source of funds (See Instructions) 4. SC						
5.	Check if disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to item 2(d) or 2(e)						
6.	Citizenship o Unites States	r place of organization Citizen					
		7. Sole voting p	ower				
NUMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON WITH		8. Shared voting 0	power				
		9. Sole dispositi 90,660	ve power				
		Shared dispos 10.	sitive power				
11.	90,660	·	ed by each reporting person				
12.	Check if the	aggregate amount in ro	w (11) excludes certain shares (See Instruction	is) [ ]			

13.

14.

Percent of class represented by amount in row (11)

Type of reporting person (See Instructions)

#### Item 1. Security and Issuer

The securities covered by this Schedule 13D are shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Common Stock") of The Peck Company Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Issuer"). The Issuer's principal executive offices are located at 4050 Williston Road, #511, South Burlington, Vermont 05403.

#### Item 2. Identity and Background

- (a), (f) This statement is being filed on behalf of:
  - (i) Jeffrey Peck, a citizen of the United States of America;
  - (ii) Veroma, LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Veroma")
  - (iii) Michael d'Amato, a citizen of the United States of America;
  - (iv) Roger G. Branton, a citizen of the United States of America;
  - (v) Branton Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Branton Partners");
  - (vi) Richard L. Mooers, a citizen of the United States of America;
  - (vii) Mooers Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Mooers Partners");
  - (viii) Corundum AB, a Swedish limited company ("Corundum"); and
- (ix) Joseph Bobier, a citizen of the United States of America (together with Jeffrey Peck, Veroma, Michael d'Amato, Roger G. Branton, Branton Partners, Richard L. Mooers, Mooers Partners and Corundum, the "Reporting Persons")

The Reporting Persons have entered into a joint filing agreement, dated as of July 1, 2019, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

(b) The business address of Jeffrey Peck is 4050 Williston Road, #511, South Burlington, VT 05403.

The business address of each of Veroma and Michael d'Amato is 208 Midwood Street, Brooklyn, NY 11225.

The business address of each of Roger G. Branton, Branton Partners, Richard L. Mooers and Mooers Partners is 240 South Pineapple Ave., Suite 701, Sarasota, FL 34236.

The business address of Corundum is Box 57, 182 05 Djursholm, Stockholms län.

The business address of Joseph Bobier is 122 Ruthlawn Dr, South Charleston, WV 25309.

(c) Jeffrey Peck is the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer and a member of the Issuer's Board of Directors. Prior to the transactions described herein, he was the President of Peck Electric Co., a Vermont corporation ("Peck Electric"). The business address of the Issuer is 4050 Williston Road, #511, South Burlington, VT 05403.

Michael d'Amato is a Managing Member of Veroma. Veroma's principal business is to business development consulting. Michael d'Amato, as President of Veroma, may be deemed to have the shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of the shares of Common Stock of the Issuer that are directly held by Veroma.

Roger G. Branton is the Managing Member of Branton Partners. The principal business of Branton Partners is investment management. Roger G. Branton, as Managing Member of Branton Partners, may be deemed to have the shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of the shares of Common Stock of the Issuer that are directly held by Branton Partners.

Richard L. Mooers is the Managing Member of Mooers Partners. The principal business of Mooers Partners is investment management. Richard L. Mooers, as Managing Member of Mooers Partners, may be deemed to have the shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of the shares of Common Stock of the Issuer that are directly held by Mooers Partners.

Corundum's principal business is investment management.

Joseph Bobier is an individual investor. The address of Joseph Bobier is 122 Ruthlawn Dr, South Charleston, WV 25309.

- (d) None of the Reporting Person have, during the last five years, been convicted in a criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors).
- (e) None of the Reporting Person have, during the last five years, been party to a civil proceeding of a judicial or administrative body of competent jurisdiction and as a result of such proceeding was or is subject to a judgment, decree or final order enjoining future violations of, or prohibiting or mandating activities subject to, federal or state securities laws or finding any violation with respect to such laws.

#### Item 3. Source and Amount of Funds or Other Consideration

On June 20, 2019 (the "Closing Date"), the Issuer consummated the previously announced business combination (the "Business Combination") pursuant to a Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2019 (the "Exchange Agreement"), by and among the Issuer, Peck Electric and Peck Electric's stockholders (the "Stockholders"). In connection with the closing of the Business Combination (the "Closing"), the Issuer changed its name from "Jensyn Acquisition Corp." to "The Peck Company Holdings, Inc." "Jensyn" refers to the Registrant prior to the Closing. In connection with the Closing, Jensyn issued 3,234,501 shares of Jensyn's common stock to the Stockholders in exchange for all of the equity securities of Peck Electric, and Peck Electric became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer. In this regard, the following Reporting Persons received the following number of shares of Common Stock in consideration for their equity securities of Peck Electric: (a) Jeffrey Peck received 1,406,974 shares of Common Stock; (b) Veroma received 213,318 shares of Common Stock; (c) Mooers Partners received 335,976 shares of Common Stock; (d) Branton Partners received 335,976 shares of Common Stock; (e) Corundum received 90,660 shares of Common Stock; and (f) Joseph Bobier received 90,660 shares of Common Stock.

The foregoing summary of the Exchange Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Exchange Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Issuer's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2019, attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by reference.

#### **Item 4.** Purpose of Transaction

Jeffrey Peck, Veroma, Mooers Partners, Branton Partners, Corundum and Joseph Bobier previously held shares of capital stock in Peck Electric and received the shares of Common Stock as consideration from the Issuer pursuant to the terms of the above described Exchange Agreement in connection with the Business Combination.

Jeffrey Peck intends to participate in and influence the affairs of the Issuer through his positions as Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer and a member of its Board of Directors through his voting rights with respect to ownership of the Common Stock of the Issuer.

Subject to applicable legal requirements, the Reporting Persons may purchase additional securities of the Issuer from time to time in open market or private transactions, depending on their evaluation of the Issuer's business, prospects and financial condition, the market for the Issuer's securities, other developments concerning the Issuer, the reaction of the Issuer to the Reporting Persons' ownership of the Issuer's securities, other opportunities available to the Reporting Persons, and general economic, money market and stock market conditions. In addition, depending upon the factors referred to above, the Reporting Persons may dispose of all or a portion of their securities of the Issuer at any time. The Reporting Persons reserve the right to increase or decrease their holdings on such terms and at such times as they may decide.

Other than as described above, the Reporting Persons do not have any plan or proposal relating to or that would result in:

- (a) the acquisition by any person of additional securities of the Issuer or the disposition of securities of the Issuer;
- (b) an extraordinary corporate transaction, such as a merger, reorganization or liquidation, involving the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries;
- (c) a sale or transfer of a material amount of assets of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries;
- (d) any change in the present Board of Directors or management of the Issuer, including any plans or proposals to change the number or terms of directors or to fill any existing vacancies on the Board of Directors of the Issuer;
- (e) any material change in the present capitalization or dividend policy of the Issuer;
- (f) any other material change in the Issuer's business or corporate structure;

of

of

- (g) any changes in the Issuer's charter, bylaws or instruments corresponding thereto or other actions which may impede the acquisition of control of the Issuer by any person;
- (h) a class of securities of the Issuer being delisted from a national securities exchange or ceasing to be authorized to be quoted in an inter-dealer quotation system of a registered national securities association;
- (i) a class of equity securities of the Issuer becoming eligible for termination of registration pursuant to Section 12(g)(4) of the Exchange Act; or
- (j) any action similar to those enumerated above.

#### Item 5. Interest in Securities of the Issuer

(a) — (b)				(	<b>b</b> )	
			Numbe	,	o which the pers	son has:
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Sole Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Jeffrey Peck	2,473,564	47.6%	2,473,564	0	1,406,974	0
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	b) o which the person to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Veroma	213,318	4.1%	0	0	0	213,318
Name  Michael d'Amato	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Number to Vote or to Direct the Vote	,	b) o which the personal to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of 213,318
				,	<b>b</b> )	
			Numbe	r of Shares as t	o which the per	son has:
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Sole Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition

Richard L. Mooers	335,976	6.5%	0	0	0	335,976

				,	b)	_
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	o which the personal Sole Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Mooers Partners	335,976	6.5%	0	0	0	335,976
			Numbe	,	b) o which the pers	
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Sole Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Roger G. Branton	335,976	6.5%	0	0	0	335,976
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	,	b) o which the personal to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Son has:  Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Branton Partners	335,976	6.5%	0	0	0	335,976
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Sole Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	Shared Power to Vote or to Direct the Vote	b) o which the personal sole Power to Dispose or to Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Corundum	90,660	1.7%	0	0	90,660	0
Name	(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	(a) Percent of Class*	Numbe  Sole Power to  Vote or to  Direct the  Vote	,	b) o which the personal sole Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of	Shared Power to Dispose or to Direct the Disposition of
Joseph Bobier	90,660	1.7%	0	0	90,660	0

2,937 shares of Co 8-K, filed with the			

- (c) Except for the transactions described in Items 3, 4, 5 or 6 of this Schedule 13D, which are incorporated by reference into this Item 5(c), during the last sixty days there were no transactions with respect to the Common Stock effected by the Reporting Person.
- (d) No person other than the Reporting Person is known to have the right to receive or the power to direct the receipt of dividends from, or the proceeds from the sale of, the securities discussed herein.
- (e) Not applicable.

#### Item 6. Contracts, Arrangements, Understandings or Relationships with Respect to Securities of the Issuer

Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement described further under Item 4, the following Reporting Persons received the following number of shares of Common Stock in consideration for their equity securities of Peck Electric: (a) Jeffrey Peck received 1,406,974 shares of Common Stock; (b) Veroma received 213,318 shares of Common Stock; (c) Mooers Partners received 335, 976 shares of Common Stock; (d) Branton Partners received 335,976 shares of Common Stock; (e) Corundum received 90,660 shares of Common Stock; and (f) Joseph Bobier received 90,660 shares of Common Stock. The foregoing summary of the Exchange Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Exchange Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Issuer's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2019, attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by reference.

On June 20, 2019, Veroma, Mooers Partners, Branton Partners, Corundum and Joseph Bobier (the "Key Holders") entered into a voting agreement with Jeffrey Peck and the Issuer (the "Voting Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Voting Agreement, the Key Holders transferred to Jeffrey Peck all of the voting power they otherwise would have as a result of their ownership of shares of Common Stock of the Issuer. The foregoing summary of the Voting Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Voting Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

Other than as described in this Schedule 13D, to the best of the Reporting Person's knowledge, there are no other contracts, arrangements, understandings or relationships (legal or otherwise) between the Reporting Person and any person with respect to any securities of the Issuer.

#### Item 7. Material to be Filed as Exhibits

Exhibit 1	Form of Exchange Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Issuer's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
	with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2019).
Exhibit 2	Voting Agreement dated June 20, 2019 by and among the Reporting Persons.
Exhibit 3	Joint Filing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2019 among the Reporting Persons

#### **SIGNATURE**

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct.

Date: July 1, 2019

/s/ Jeffrey Peck

Jeffrey Peck, individually

VEROMA, LLC

By: /s/ Michael d'Amato

Name: Michael d'Amato Title: Managing Member

/s/ Michael d'Amato

Michael d'Amato, individually

**BRANTON PARTNERS, LLC** 

By: /s/Roger G. Branton

Name: Roger G. Branton
Title: Managing Member

/s/ Roger G. Branton

Roger G. Branton, individually

**MOOERS PARTNERS, LLC** 

By: /s/ Richard L. Mooers

Name: Richard L. Mooers Title: Managing Member

/s/ Richard L. Mooers

Richard L. Mooers, individually

**CORUNDUM AB** 

By: /s/ Mats Wennberg

Name: Mats Wennberg Title: Authorized Person

/s/ Joseph Bobier

Joseph Bobier, individually

## **EXHIBIT INDEX**

Exhibit	Description
Exhibit 1	Form of Exchange Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Issuer's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2019).
Exhibit 2 Exhibit 3	Voting Agreement dated June 20, 2019 by and among the Reporting Person and the other signatories thereto.  Joint Filing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2019 among the Reporting Persons

## SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

JENSYN ACQUISITION CORP.,

PECK ELECTRIC CO.

AND

THE STOCKHOLDERS OF PECK ELECTRIC CO.

DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2019

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTIC	LE 1 CERTAIN D	EFINITIONS	]
	Section 1.1.	Certain Definitions	
A DTICI	LE 2 CHADE EV	NHANCE AND DELATED MATTEDS	(
ARTIC	LE 2 SHAKE EAU	CHANGE AND RELATED MATTERS	,
	Section 2.1.	The Exchange.	(
	Section 2.2.	The Closing.	(
	Section 2.3.	Deliveries at the Closing.	10
	Section 2.4.	Adjustments to Exchange Share and Sponsor Share Ownership.	10
	Section 2.5.	Determination of Exchange Share and Sponsor Ownership.	10
	Section 2.6.	Earnout Shares	10
	Section 2.7.	Funding of JAC Transaction Expenses	10
	Section 2.8.	Payment of JAC Obligations	1(
	Section 2.9.	Payment of Stockholders' Expenses.	11
	Section 2.7.	2 a) mont of stormotors 2 mponeter	
ARTIC	LE 3 REPRESENT	TATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	11
	Section 3.1.	Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.	11
	Section 3.2.	Capitalization of the Company.	1
	Section 3.3.	Authority	12
	Section 3.4.	Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities; Book and Records.	12
	Section 3.5.	Consents and Approvals; No Violations	13
	Section 3.6.	Material Contracts.	13
	Section 3.7.	Absence of Changes	14
	Section 3.8.	Litigation.	14
	Section 3.9.	Compliance with Applicable Law	1.
	Section 3.10.	Employee Benefit Plans.	15
	Section 3.11.	Environmental Matters.	16
	Section 3.12.	Intellectual Property.	17
	Section 3.13.	Labor Matters.	17
	Section 3.14.	Insurance.	18
	Section 3.15.	Tax Matters.	18
	Section 3.16.	Brokers	19
	Section 3.17.	Real and Personal Property.	19

	Section 3.18.	Transactions with Related Parties.	19
	Section 3.19.	Absence of Certain Payments.	20
	Section 3.20.	Customers and Suppliers.	20
	Section 3.21.	Company Information.	20
	Section 3.22.	State Takeover Statutes.	20
ARTIC	LE 4 REPRESEN	NTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF STOCKHOLDERS	20
	Section 4.1.	Authority.	20
	Section 4.2.	Consents and Approval; No Violations.	21
	Section 4.3.	Title to the Company Shares; Ownership of Stockholder.	21
	Section 4.4.	Litigation.	21
	Section 4.5.	Brokers.	21
ARTIC	LE 5 REPRESEN	NTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF JAC	21
	Section 5.1.	Organization.	21
	Section 5.2.	Authority.	22
	Section 5.3.	Consents and Approvals; No Violations.	22
	Section 5.4.	Absence of Changes.	22
	Section 5.5.	Brokers.	22
	Section 5.6.	Transactions with Related Parties.	23
	Section 5.7.	JAC Information.	23
	Section 5.8.	Trust Account.	23
	Section 5.9.	Listing.	23
	Section 5.10.	JAC Board Approval.	23
	Section 5.11.	JAC SEC Documents and Financial Statements	24
	Section 5.12.	Litigation.	24
	Section 5.13.	Absence of Certain Payments.	24
ARTIC	LE 6 COVENAN	NTS	26
	Section 6.1.	Conduct of Business of the Company and JAC.	26
	Section 6.2.	Certain Tax Matters.	28
	Section 6.3.	Access to Information.	29
	Section 6.4.	Efforts to Consummate; Regulatory Matters.	29
	Section 6.5.	The Proxy.	30
	Section 6.6.	Third Party Consents.	31
		ii	

	Section 6.7.	Notice.	31
	Section 6.8.	Public Announcements.	31
	Section 6.9.	Exclusive Dealing.	32
	Section 6.10.	Documents and Information.	32
	Section 6.11.	Contact with Customers, Suppliers and Other Business Relations.	32
	Section 6.12.	Affiliated Transactions.	33
	Section 6.13.	No JAC Common Stock Transactions; Listing.	33
	Section 6.14.	No Claim Against Trust Account.	33
	Section 6.15.	JAC Borrowings.	33
ARTI	CLE 7 CONDITION	ONS TO CONSUMMATION OF	34
	Section 7.1.	Conditions to the Obligations of the Company, JAC and Stockholders.	34
	Section 7.2.	Other Conditions to the Obligations of JAC.	34
	Section 7.3.	Other Conditions to the Obligations of the Company and Stockholders.	35
	Section 7.4.	Frustration of Closing Conditions.	36
ARTI	CLE 8 TERMINA	TION; AMENDMENT; WAIVER	36
	Section 8.1.	Termination.	36
	Section 8.2.	Effect of Termination.	36
	Section 8.3.	Termination Payment.	37
	Section 8.4.	Amendment.	37
	Section 8.5.	Extension; Waiver.	38
ARTI	CLE 9 INDEMNI	FICATION	38
	Section 9.1.	Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants.	38
	Section 9.2.	Indemnification.	38
	Section 9.3.	Limitations on Indemnification.	39
	Section 9.4.	Indemnification Procedures.	40
	Section 9.5.	Payment of Indemnification	40
	Section 9.6.	Exclusive Remedy.	40
	Section 9.7.	Liability of JAC Representative.	40
ARTI	CLE 10 MISCELI	LANEOUS	41
	Section 10.1.	Entire Agreement; Assignment.	41
	Section 10.2.	Notices	41
	Section 10.3.	Governing Law.	42
		iii	

Section 10.4.	Fees and Expenses.		43
Section 10.5.	Construction; Interpretation.		43
Section 10.6.	Exhibits and Schedules.		43
Section 10.7.	Parties in Interest.		43
Section 10.8.	Severability.		44
Section 10.9.	Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures.		44
Section 10.10.	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL		44
Section 10.11.	Jurisdiction and Venue		44
Section 10.12.	Specific Performance		45
		iv	

#### SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT

THIS SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of February 15, 2019, is made by and among JENSYN ACQUISITION CORP., a Delaware corporation ("JAC"), PECK ELECTRIC CO., a Vermont corporation (the "Company"), and the stockholders of the Company identified on the signature page hereto (each a "Stockholder" and collectively, the "Stockholders"). The Company, the Stockholders and JAC are, from time to time, referred to individually herein as a "Party", and collectively as the "Parties". Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to such terms in ARTICLE 1.

WHEREAS, JAC is a blank check company incorporated to acquire one or more operating businesses through a Business Combination;

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Stockholders own beneficially and of record one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company;

WHEREAS, JAC desires to acquire one hundred percent (100%) of the issued and outstanding equity securities of the Company (the "Company Shares") from the Stockholders in exchange (the "Exchange") for the issuance by JAC to the Stockholders in the aggregate of 3,234,501 newly issued shares of common stock of JAC, and in the individual amounts as set forth on Schedule A, and in each case subject to adjustment as set forth herein, and the Stockholders desire to exchange the Company Shares for such newly issued shares of JAC on the terms described herein;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of JAC (the "JAC Board") and the board of directors of the Company (the "Company Board"), has approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the acquisition of the Company by JAC and in accordance with the terms hereof, JAC shall provide an opportunity to its public stockholders to have their shares of common stock redeemed for the consideration, and on the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations, set forth in this Agreement and JAC's Governing Documents in conjunction with, inter alia, obtaining approval from the stockholders of JAC for (i) the Business Combination and (ii) an amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized common stock of JAC in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (collectively with the other transactions, authorization and approvals set forth in the Proxy Statement, the "Offer").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

# ARTICLE 1 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Certain Definitions

As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below.

"Accounting Firm" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c)(ii).

"Additional JAC SEC Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10.

"Adjusted EBITDA" means earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation as determined by reference to the statements of operations included in JAC's periodic reports filed with the SEC for the applicable periods, as adjusted to exclude: (a) public-company-specific operating expenses that are otherwise not incurred in managing a private, non-reporting company; and (b) items that are traditionally considered non-recurring, extraordinary items.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, and the terms "controlled" and "controlling" have meanings correlative thereto.

"Agreement" means this Agreement together with all Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes hereto, as the same may from time to time be amended, modified, supplemented or restated in accordance with the terms hereof.

"Ancillary Documents" means the Confidentiality Agreement, the Lock-Up Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument and/or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Basket" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).

"Business Combination" has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Certificate of Incorporation.

"Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which commercial banks in New York City are open for the general transaction of business.

"Cash and Cash Equivalents" means the sum of the fair market value (expressed in United States dollars) of all cash and cash equivalents (including marketable securities, short term investments and all checks, transfers and funds written, made or payable to or for the benefit of the Company that have not yet been received or which have not cleared, to the extent any such item is not otherwise reflected in the calculation of Net Working Capital) of the Company, calculated in accordance with GAAP and the practices and methodologies used by the Company in the preparation of Financial Statements, as of the open of business on the Closing Date; provided, however, that if any cash or cash equivalents are denominated in a currency other than United States dollars, the amount of such cash or cash equivalents shall be expressed in United States dollars calculated based on the relevant currency exchange rate in effect (as published by Oanda.com) on the day preceding the Closing Date.

"Certificate of Incorporation" means the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of JAC, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on March 1, 2016, as amended from time to time in accordance with its terms and applicable law.

"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

"Closing Exchange Share Amount" means the number of Exchange Shares issuable to the Stockholders as finally determined pursuant to Section 2.6.

"Closing Net Working Capital" means the Net Working Capital as of the open of business on the Closing Date.

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

"COBRA" means Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, Section 4980B of the Code and any similar state law.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Company" has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

"Company Credit Facilities" means that certain line of credit with Community Bank, N.A., referenced by loan number C-17-07-241442, but specifically excludes certain capital leases and mortgages disclosed elsewhere in this Agreement.

"Company Fundamental Representations" means those representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.15, Section 3.16, Section 4.1, Section 4.2, Section 4.4 and Section 4.5.

"Company IP Rights" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).

"Company Material Adverse Effect" means any event, circumstance, change, development or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with all other events, circumstances, changes, developments or effects, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect upon (i) the assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), business or results of operations of the Company, taken as a whole, or (ii) the ability of the Company to timely consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; provided, however, that any adverse event, circumstance, change, development or effect arising from or related to (a) conditions affecting the United States economy or any foreign economy generally, (b) any national or international political or social conditions, including, engagement in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack or otherwise, (c) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index), (d) changes in GAAP (or in the interpretation thereof), (e) changes in (or in the interpretation of) any laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding directives issued by any Governmental Entity or any action required to be taken under any law, rule, regulation, order or existing contract by which the Company (or any of their respective assets or properties) is bound, (f) any change that is generally applicable to the industries or markets in which the Company operates, (g) the taking of any action contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document (including the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby) or with JAC's consent (but excluding effects resulting from the Closing), shall not be considered a Material Adverse Effect.

"Company Systems" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(c).

"Company Tax" means any Tax, if and to the extent that the Company is or may be potentially liable under applicable law, under contract or on any other grounds (including, but not limited to, as a transferee or successor, under Code Section 6901 or Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6, as a result of any Tax sharing or other agreement, or by operation of law) for any such Tax.

"Company Tax Return" means any Tax Return relating to or inclusive of the Company or any Company Tax.

"Confidentiality Agreement" means the confidentiality agreement, dated as of November 26, 2018, by and between the Company and JAC.

"Consents" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

"Designated Contact" means Jeffrey Peck and such other Persons as the Company may designate in writing from time to time.

"DGCL" means the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended.

"Dispute Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(b)(ii).

"Earnout Exchange Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6.

"Employee Benefit Plan" means each material benefit, retirement, employment, compensation, incentive, stock option, restricted stock, stock appreciation right, phantom equity, change in control, severance, vacation, paid time off and fringe-benefit agreement, plan, policy and program in effect and covering one or more Employees, former employees of the Company, current or former directors of the Company or the beneficiaries or dependents of any such Persons, and is maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by the Company, or under which the Company has any material liability for premiums or benefits, but other than any Foreign Benefit Plan or Multiemployer Plan.

"Environmental Laws" means all applicable federal, state, local and foreign statutes, regulations, and ordinances concerning pollution or protection of the environment, as such of the foregoing are enacted and in effect on or prior to the Closing Date.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Exchange Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b) and refers to the minimum number of shares due the Stockholders.

"Fairness Opinion" means the fairness opinion contemplated by Section 7.2(c).

"Federal Securities Laws" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(b).

"Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).

"Founder" means any Person who, prior to the initial public offering of JAC, were record owners of shares of JAC Common Stock and/or other equity securities of JAC.

"Funded Indebtedness" means, as of any time, without duplication, the outstanding principal amount of, accrued and unpaid interest on, and other payment obligations (including any prepayment premiums payable as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) arising under, any obligations of the Company consisting of (a) indebtedness for borrowed money or indebtedness issued in substitution or exchange for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of property or services (but excluding any trade payables and accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of business), (b) indebtedness evidenced by any note, bond, debenture or other debt security, (c) obligations under any interest rate, currency or other hedging agreements or (d) capitalized leases, as classified in accordance with GAAP, in each case, as of such time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Funded Indebtedness" shall not include any (x) obligations under operating leases, (y) undrawn letters of credit, or (y) amounts included as Stockholder Expenses.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

"Governing Documents" means, with respect to any entity, the charter, memorandum and articles of association, certificate of incorporation or formation, articles of incorporation, bylaws, partnership agreement, limited liability company agreement, operating agreement, declaration of trust, or other similar governing documents of such entity, including any documents designating or certifying the terms of any securities of such entity.

"Governmental Entity" means any U.S. or non-U.S. (a) federal, state, local, municipal, or other government or political subdivision, (b) governmental or quasi-governmental entity of any nature (including any governmental agency, branch, department, commission, board, bureau, official, or entity and any court or other tribunal) or (c) body exercising, or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or taxing authority or power of any nature, including any arbitral tribunal.

"Hazardous Substances" shall mean any substance or material or waste that (a) is regulated under any Environmental Law as a "pollutant," "contaminant," "toxic substance," "hazardous substance," "hazardous waste" or words of similar meaning and regulatory effect or (b) contains asbestos, petroleum or polychlorinated biphenyls.

"Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(b).

"Indemnifying Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(b).

"Intellectual Property Rights" means all of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world: (a) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable or whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, and all patents (including, without limitation, utility patents, design patents, industrial designs, plant patents, inventors' certificates and utility models), patent applications (including docketed patent disclosures awaiting filing, reissues, divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part and extensions), and patent disclosures, together with all reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions, and reexaminations thereof, (b) all trademarks, services marks, trade dress, logos, slogans, trade names, corporate, business and product names, Internet domain names, together with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and including all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (c) all copyrightable works, all copyrights, and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith, (e) all trade secrets and confidential business information (including ideas, research and development, know-how, formulas, compositions, manufacturing and production processes and techniques, technical data, designs, drawings, specifications, customer and supplier lists and profiles, pricing and cost (including source code, executable code, data, databases, and related documentation) and (g) all other proprietary rights.

"JAC" has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

"JAC Board" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

"JAC Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.0001 par value per share, of JAC.

"JAC Fundamental Representations" means those representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.1, Section 5.2, Section 5.5, Section 5.8 and Section 5.10.

"JAC Indemnifiable Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).

"JAC Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).

"JAC Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(b).

"JAC Material Adverse Effect" shall mean any change, effect, event, or occurrence that, individually or in the aggregate with all other changes, events or occurrences, has had a material adverse effect on (a) the business, financial condition or results of operations of JAC, taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of JAC to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby prior to the termination of JAC pursuant to Section 9.1(e) of the Certificate of Incorporation.

"JAC Obligations" means all pre-Closing indebtedness and obligations of JAC, including notes payable to the Founders, amounts owed to Jensyn Integration Services for office space, secretarial and administrative services, and all third party fees and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation and execution of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of investment bankers, finders, accountants and legal counsel, all of which are included on Schedule 1.1, but excluding any obligation to pay franchise taxes.

- "JAC Obligation Shares" means shares of JAC Common Stock used to satisfy JAC Obligations as contemplated by Section 2.8.
- "JAC Representative" means Jeffrey J. Raymond or such other individual as may be designated by a majority of the individuals who served on the JAC Board of Directors immediately prior to the Closing.
  - "JAC SEC Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10.
- "JAC Stock Price" means the price of the JAC Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq Capital Market or the principal exchange or quotation system on which the JAC Common Stock at the time of determination is then listed or quoted.
- "JAC Tax" means any Tax, if and to the extent that JAC is or may be potentially liable under applicable law, under contract or on any other grounds (including, but not limited to, as a transferee or successor, under Code Section 6901 or Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6, as a result of any Tax sharing or other agreement, or by operation of law) for any such Tax.
  - "JAC Tax Return" means any Tax Return relating to or inclusive of JAC or any JAC Tax
  - "Latest Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).
  - "Leased Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17(a).
  - "Letter of Intent" means that certain letter agreement, dated as of November 26, 2018, by and between the Company and JAC.
- "Lien" means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, lien, claim, option, easement, deed of trust, right-of-way, encroachment, restriction on transfer (such as a right of first refusal or other similar rights), defect of title or charge of any kind, whether voluntary or involuntary, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof and the filing of, or agreement to give, any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Lien" shall not be deemed to include any license of Intellectual Property Rights.
- "Lock-Up Agreement" means a Lock-Up Agreement among JAC and the Stockholders in a form mutually agreeable to the parties hereto.
  - "Losses" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).
  - "Material Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.6(a).
  - "Material Lease" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17(a).
  - "Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(37) of ERISA.
  - "Nasdaq" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9.
  - "Notice of Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(a).
  - "Offer" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
  - "Offer Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(c).
  - "Offering Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(a).

"Outside Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1(d).

"Owned Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17(a).

"Parties", and the correlative term "Party", have the respective meanings set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

"Permitted Liens" means (a) mechanic's, materialmen's, carriers', repairers' and other Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business for amounts that are not yet delinquent or are being contested in good faith, (b) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet due and payable as of the Closing Date or which are being contested in good faith, (c) encumbrances and restrictions on real property (including easements, covenants, conditions, rights of way and similar restrictions) that do not, or would not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the Company's present uses or occupancy of such real property, (d) Liens securing the obligations of the Company under its credit facilities (e) Liens securing the obligations of the Company under the purchase money agreements set forth on Schedule 3.17(a); (f) and Liens set forth on Schedule 3.17(a).

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, joint stock company, unincorporated organization or association, trust, joint venture, association or other similar entity, whether or not a legal entity.

"Pre-Closing Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).

"Proceeding" means any audit, administrative action, arbitration, hearing, injunction, investigation, judgment, litigation, order, subpoena, suit, summons, testimony, or other proceeding involving or conducted by or on behalf of any Governmental Entity.

"Proposed Closing Date Calculations" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(c)(i).

"Prospectus" means that certain final prospectus of JAC, dated March 7, 2016, prepared, filed and made available to the public in accordance with applicable securities law, rules and regulations.

"Proxy Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(a).

"Public Share" means shares of JAC Common Stock comprising part of the Company Shares sold in connection with JAC's initial public offering.

"Redemption Amount" means the amount paid per share to holders of Public Shares who accept the Offer.

"Released Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 10.15.

"Representatives" means, as to any Person, such Person's Affiliates and the respective managers, directors, officers, employees, independent contractors, consultants, advisors (including financial advisors, counsel and accountants), agents and other legal representatives of such Person or its Affiliates.

"Reviewable Document" means any press release or other public announcements or other statement with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Rights" means JAC's outstanding rights, each of which will be automatically converted into one-tenth (1/10) of one (1) share of JAC Common Stock upon the Closing.

"Sarbanes-Oxley Act" means the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

"Schedules" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of ARTICLE 3.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and any successor Governmental Entity.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Sponsors" means Jeffrey J. Raymond, Joseph J. Raymond, Peter Underwood, Demetrios Mallios and Brendan Rempel.

"Stockholders' Expenses" means, without duplication and to the extent unpaid as of the open of business on the Closing Date, the aggregate amount payable by the Company and/or the Stockholders for which the Company or JAC could become liable after the Closing in respect of all out-of-pocket costs, fees, including, without limitation, their reasonable attorneys' fees, and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Stockholders or the Company in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Stockholder Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity of which (a) if a corporation, greater than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of shares of capital stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof or (b) if a limited liability company, partnership, association, or other business entity (other than a corporation), greater than fifty percent (50%) of the partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof is at the time owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof and for this purpose, a Person or Persons own a majority ownership interest in such a business entity (other than a corporation) if such Person or Persons shall be allocated greater than fifty percent (50%) of such business entity's gains or losses or shall be a, or control any, managing director or general partner of such business entity (other than a corporation). The term "Subsidiary" shall include all Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary.

"Survival Period" means the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the date that is one (1) year after the Closing Date; provided, however, that the Survival Period for a breach of a Company Fundamental Representation or a JAC Fundamental Representation shall be the date that is three (3) years after the Closing Date.

"Tax" means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, franchise, estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, sales, use, transfer, real property gains, registration, value added, excise, natural resources, severance, stamp, occupation, windfall profits, environmental, customs, duties, real property, personal property, capital stock, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, payroll, license, employee, withholding or other tax, of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalties or additions to tax in respect of the foregoing (whether disputed or not).

"Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or information, return or statement with respect to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment therefor or any amendment thereof.

"Third Party Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(b).

"To the Knowledge of the Company" and "to the Company's Knowledge" means the actual knowledge of Jeff Peck or knowledge that Jeff Peck would be reasonably expected to have if he had undertaken a reasonable investigation of the fact, matter or circumstance in question.

"Transaction Expenses" means the reasonable and documented fees and expenses incurred by JAC in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as approved by the Company in writing.

"Transfer Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(g).

"Treasury Regulations" means the regulations promulgated under the Code by the United States Department of the Treasury.

"Trust Account" means that certain trust account at JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (with Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company ("Trustee") acting as trustee) established by JAC into which substantially all of the proceeds received by JAC as a result of its initial public offering plus additional funds have been deposited for the benefit of JAC's public stockholders.

"Trust Agreement" means that certain investment management trust agreement, dated as of March 2, 2016, between JAC and the Trustee, governing the funds held in the Trust Account, as amended from time to time in accordance with its terms.

"Trust Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.8.

"Trustee" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Trust Account.

# ARTICLE 2 SHARE EXCHANGE AND RELATED MATTERS

Section 2.1. The Exchange.

- (a) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the Stockholders shall assign, transfer and deliver, free and clear of all liens, pledges, encumbrances, charges, restrictions or known claims of any kind, nature, or description (except for those created by this Agreement and other than restrictions under applicable federal, state and other securities laws), all of the Company Shares owned by the Stockholders to JAC, with the objective of such Exchange being the acquisition by JAC of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company.
- (b) In consideration of the transfer of the Company Shares to JAC by the Stockholders, JAC, on the Closing Date, shall issue to the Stockholders an aggregate amount of 3,234,501 newly issued shares of JAC Common Stock (the "Exchange Shares") in the individual amounts set forth in Schedule A upon surrender of the certificate or certificates representing the Company Shares owned by the Stockholders (or in lieu thereof, the delivery of an affidavit of lost security in the customary form) accompanied by a stock power indorsed in blank.

#### Section 2.2. The Closing.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at 10:00 a.m., New York time, on a date to be specified by the Parties, which shall be no later than the second Business Day after satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in ARTICLE 7 (other than those conditions which are to be satisfied by the delivery of documents or taking of any other action at the Closing by any Party, but subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of such conditions at the Closing) (the "Closing Date"), at the offices of Robinson Brog Leinward Greene Genovese & Gluck, P.C., 875 Third Avenue, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor, New York, New York 10022, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by JAC and the Company. For purposes of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, the Closing shall be deemed to occur as of the open of business on the Closing Date.

# Section 2.3. Deliveries at the Closing.

At the Closing, each Party shall deliver (or cause to be delivered) all of the certificates, instruments and other documents required to be delivered by such Party pursuant to ARTICLE 7 with respect to the Closing.

Section 2.4. Reserved

Section 2.5. Reserved

#### Section 2.6. Earnout Shares

In the event that (a) the Company's Adjusted EBITDA for the twelve (12) month period commencing on the first full month that is after Closing Date (the "Earnout Period")<sup>1</sup> is \$5,000,000 or more (the "Adjusted EBITDA Target) or (b) the closing JAC Stock Price is \$12.00 or more after the Closing Date (the "Stock Price Target") and prior to the end of the Earnout Period, the Company shall issue:

- (i) 898,473 shares of JAC Common Stock to the Stockholders, pro rata in accordance with their ownership of Company Shares;
- (ii) 11,231 shares of JAC Common Stock to Exit Strategy Partners, LLC; and
- (iii) a number of shares of JAC Common Stock equal to (X) the number of JAC Obligation Shares minus (Y) 11,231 shares of JAC Common Stock to the Sponsors, pro rata in accordance with the number of shares forfeited by each Sponsor as contemplated by Section 2.8(i).

If shares of JAC Common Stock become issuable pursuant to this Section 2.6, the Company shall issue or cause its transfer agent to issue such shares within ten (10) days after the filing of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Annual Report on Form 10-K, as applicable, demonstrating achievement of the Adjusted EBITDA Target in the event that shares become issuable pursuant to Section 2 .6(b)(i) above and within five (5) days after the end of the applicable ten (10) trading day period in the event that the shares become issuable pursuant to Section 2.6(b)(i) above. The number of shares of JAC Common Stock issuable pursuant to this Section 2.6 shall be equitably adjusted in the event of a stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification, reorganization or similar transaction.

#### Section 2.7. Reserved

# Section 2.8. Payment of JAC Obligations

By separate agreement of even date herewith (the "Share Forfeiture Agreement"), the Sponsors have agreed to forfeit to the Company (i) up to 200,000 shares of JAC Common Stock at the Closing to the extent such shares are used to satisfy JAC Obligations or induce investors to make an equity investment in JAC at or prior to the Closing and (ii) 200,000 shares of JAC Common Stock if neither the Adjusted EBITDA Target nor the Stock Price Target is achieved pursuant to Section 2.6. Immediately prior to the Closing, taking into account any funds remaining in the Trust Account after giving effect to the Offer, JAC shall satisfy the JAC Obligations from (a) cash on hand, including any funds remaining in the Trust Account after giving effect to the Offer, or (b) by re-issuing Sponsor Shares forfeited pursuant to the Share Forfeiture Agreement, but in no event shall JAC satisfy the JAC Obligations in cash to the extent that payments of the JAC Obligations in cash would exceed \$2,500,000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the avoidance of doubt, if the transaction contemplated by this Agreement closes on May 16, 2019, June 2019 shall be the first full measured month for purposes of the Earnout Period.

# Section 2.9. Payment of Stockholders' Expenses

On the Closing Date, contemporaneously with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and on behalf of the Company and Stockholders, the Company shall pay in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds, the Stockholders' Expenses to such Persons entitled thereto.

# ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the disclosure schedules delivered by the Company to JAC, which shall be delivered within ten (10) business days after the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the "Schedules"), the Company hereby represents and warrants to JAC as follows:

# Section 3.1. Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.

- (a) The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and, if applicable in such jurisdiction, in good standing (or the equivalent thereof) under the laws of the State of Vermont. The Company, has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as presently conducted.
- (b) The Company is duly qualified or licensed to transact business and is in good standing (or the equivalent thereof) in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or operated by it, or the nature of the business conducted by it, makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing has not had a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) The Company is not in default under or in violation of any material provision of the Company's Governing Documents.

#### Section 3.2. Capitalization of the Company.

- (a) The Company Shares comprise all of the Company's authorized capital stock that are issued and outstanding, and all of the Company Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable, and were issued free and clear of any preemptive rights (except to the extent provided by applicable law), restrictions on transfer (other than restrictions under applicable federal, state and other securities laws), or other Liens. Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.2, there are no outstanding (i) equity securities of the Company other than the Company Shares, (ii) securities of the Company having the right to vote on any matters on which the holders of equity securities of the Company may vote or which are convertible into or exchangeable for, at any time, equity securities of the Company, (iii) options or other rights to acquire from the Company, and no obligations of the Company to issue, purchase or redeem any equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for equity securities of the Company or (iv) proxies, voting agreements or other agreements or arrangements to which the Company is a party or is otherwise obligated relating to any equity securities of the Company.
- (b) The Company does not directly or indirectly owns any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, at any time, any equity or similar interest in, any Person.

(c) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.2, there are no outstanding phantom securities or other equity-based compensation arrangements, profit participation or other similar rights with respect to the Company.

# Section 3.3. Authority

The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents by the Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company. This Agreement has been (and the execution and delivery of each of the Ancillary Documents to which the Company will be a party will be when delivered at the Closing) duly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes (and, with respect to each of the Ancillary Documents to which the Company will be a party, will constitute) a valid, legal and binding agreement of the Company (assuming that this Agreement has been, and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party will be, duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the other Persons party thereto), enforceable against the Company in accordance with their respective terms, except (a) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (b) that the availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.

# Section 3.4. Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities; Book and Records.

- (a) Attached hereto as Schedule 3.4 are true and complete copies of the following financial statements (such financial statements, the "Financial Statements") (i) the audited balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the related audited consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the twelve (12) month periods ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and (ii) the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of September 30, 2018 (the "Latest Balance Sheet") and the related unaudited statements of operations and cash flows for the three (3) months period ending on such date. The Financial Statements (x) have been prepared from the books and records of the Company in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby, except as may be indicated in the notes thereto and except for the absence of footnotes and subject to customary year-end adjustments (including year-end reserve, accrual and tax accounting adjustments), and (y) fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of the dates thereof and its results of operations for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited Financial Statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, to the absence of footnotes and to customary year-end adjustments (including year-end reserve, accrual and tax accounting adjustments)).
- (b) Except for matters reflected or reserved against in the Financial Statements or otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.4, the Company has no liability of any nature that would be required under generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect on the date of this Agreement, to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company (including the notes thereto), except liabilities that were incurred since the date of such balance sheet in the ordinary course of business or (ii) are incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.
- (c) The books and records of the Company accurately and fairly, in all material respects, reflect the operations and conduct of business by the Company. The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient, in all material respects to provide reasonable assurance that (i) all income and expense items are promptly and properly recorded for the relevant periods in accordance with policies maintained by the Company; and (ii) recorded assets are compared with existing assets at reasonable intervals, and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.

# Section 3.5. Consents and Approvals; No Violations

Assuming the truth and accuracy of the representations and warranties of JAC set forth in Section 5.3, except as set forth in Schedule 3.5, no notice to, filing with, other than as required under any state and federal securities agency or authorization, consent or approval of any Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party or the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for those that may be required solely by reason of JAC's (as opposed to any other third party's) participation in the transactions contemplated hereby. Neither the execution, delivery nor performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party nor the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby will (w) conflict with or result in any breach of any material provision of the Company's Governing Documents, (x) result in a violation or breach of, or cause acceleration, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any of the material terms, conditions or provisions of any Material Contract or any Material Lease, (y) violate any material order, writ, injunction, decree, law, statute, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its material properties or assets, or (z) except as contemplated by this Agreement or with respect to Permitted Liens, result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the material assets of the Company, except any deviations from any of clauses (x), (y) or (z) which would not be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 3.6. Material Contracts.

- (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6(a) (collectively, the "Material Contracts") and except for this Agreement and except for any Material Lease, as of the date of this Agreement, the Company is not a party to or bound by any of the following written contracts or agreements (to the extent any such contract or agreement remains in effect as of the date hereof):
- (i) contract for the employment of any officer, individual employee or other person on a full-time, part-time, consulting or other basis providing annual base salary or consulting fees in excess of \$100,000 (other than any "at-will" contract that may be terminated by any party thereto upon thirty (30) days or less advance notice);
- (ii) agreement or indenture relating to Funded Indebtedness, except for Funded Indebtedness outstanding under the Company's Credit Facilities and other Funded Indebtedness for an amount less than \$100,000;
- (iii) lease or agreement under which the Company is lessee of or holds or operates any tangible property (other than real property), owned by any other Person, except for any lease or agreement under which the aggregate annual rental payments do not exceed \$100,000;
- (iv) lease or agreement under which the Company is lessor of or permits any third party to hold or operate any tangible property (other than real property), owned or controlled by the Company, except for any lease or agreement under which the aggregate annual rental payments do not exceed \$100,000;
- (v) material partnership agreements joint venture agreements, strategic alliances and similar contracts relating to the Company;
- (vi) any contracts (other than in the ordinary course of business) with any customer or supplier set forth on Schedule 3.20;
- (vii) agreement, contract or commitment prohibiting the Company from freely engaging in any material business;

- (viii) collective bargaining or other agreement with any labor union or similar employee organization;
- (ix) any contract related to the development or ownership (other than the sale, assignment, transfer or acquisition) of any material Company IP Rights or agreement pursuant to which the Company grants or receives a license to use any material Intellectual Property Rights (other than non-exclusive licenses granted or received in the ordinary course of business and licenses acquired in connection with the acquisition of off-the-shelf or other commercially available software);
- (x) contract, arrangement or understanding that relates to the future disposition or acquisition of material assets or properties by the Company, or any merger or business combination with respect to the Company;
- (xi) contract, arrangement or understanding requiring or providing for any capital expenditure in excess of \$100,000;
- (xii) material interest rate, currency, or other hedging contract, arrangement or understanding;
- (xiii) contract, arrangement or understanding containing any provision pursuant to which the Company will be obligated to make a payment to any Person at the Closing as a direct result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Ancillary Document; or
- (xiv) other contract, arrangement or understanding not of the types described above in this Section 3.6(a) that, individually or together with any other contract, arrangement or understanding, involves consideration in excess of \$100,000 in the current fiscal year of the Company.
- (b) As of the date hereof, each Material Contract is valid and binding on the Company and enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each other party thereto (in each case, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors' rights and subject to general principles of equity). The Company has performed all material obligations required to be performed by it under such Material Contracts, and neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto are in material breach or material default thereunder and no event has occurred which would permit termination, modification or acceleration of any Material Contract by any party thereto. As of the date of this Agreement, the Company has not received written notice of any current default under any Material Contract. The Company has not given a written notice of its intent to terminate, materially modify, amend or otherwise materially alter the terms and conditions of any Material Contract or has received any such written notice from any other party thereto.

# Section 3.7. Absence of Changes

During the period beginning on the date of the Latest Balance Sheet and ending on each of the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, (i) to the knowledge of the Company there has not been and there will not be (as of the Closing Date) any Company Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Company has conducted its business in the ordinary course.

#### Section 3.8. Litigation.

Except as set forth in Schedule 3.8, as of the date of this Agreement, (a) there is no suit, litigation, arbitration, claim, action, proceeding or, to the Knowledge of the Company, investigation pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against the Company before any Governmental Entity which, and (b) the Company is not subject to any outstanding order, writ, injunction or decree that, in either case, would, if finally determined pursuant to a final nonappealable judgment, have an adverse effect which is material to the Company.

# Section 3.9. Compliance with Applicable Law

The Company holds, as of the date hereof, all material permits, licenses, approvals, certificates and other authorizations of and from all, and have made all material declarations and filings with, Governmental Entities necessary for the lawful conduct of its business as presently conducted. As of the date of this Agreement, the business of the Company is operated in material compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and orders of all applicable Governmental Entities. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9, there is no suit, claim or action pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened by any Governmental Entity with respect to any alleged material violation by the Company of any law, rule, regulation, code, ordinance or order of any Governmental Entity.

# Section 3.10. Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Schedule 3.10(a) lists all Employee Benefit Plans and Foreign Benefit Plans.
- (b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10(b), no Employee Benefit Plan is a plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, no Employee Benefit Plan provides health or other welfare benefits to former employees of the Company other than as required by COBRA, and the Company has no any obligation to contribute to a Multiemployer Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA.
- (c) Each Employee Benefit Plan has, to the extent applicable, been maintained and administered in compliance with the applicable requirements of ERISA, the Code and any other applicable laws including, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, and all material contributions and premium payments required to have been paid with respect to each Employee Benefit Plan have been made. Each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service or is entitled to rely on a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service on the form of such Employee Benefit Plan and, to the Company's Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect the qualified status of any such Employee Benefit Plan.
- (d) Each Employee Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 409A of the Code has been operated in compliance with such section and all applicable regulatory guidance (including notices, rulings and proposed and final regulations).
- (e) No material liability under Title IV of ERISA has been or, to the Company's Knowledge, is reasonably expected to be incurred by the Company.
- (f) The Company not has engaged in any transaction with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan that would be reasonably likely to subject the Company to any material Tax or penalty (civil or otherwise) imposed by ERISA or the Code.
- (g) With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan, the Company has made available to JAC copies, to the extent applicable and within the Company's possession or control, of (i) the current plan and trust documents and the most recent summary plan description provided to participants, (ii) the most recent annual report (Form 5500 series), (iii) the most recent financial statements, and (iv) the most recent Internal Revenue Service determination letter.
- (h) Each Foreign Benefit Plan has been maintained and administered in compliance with its terms and the requirements of all applicable laws.
- (i) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will result in (i) except as set forth on Schedule 3.10(i) severance pay or any increase in severance pay upon any termination of employment after the date of this Agreement, (ii) any payment, compensation or benefit becoming due on the Closing Date, or any increase in the amount of any payment, compensation or benefit due on the Closing Date, to any current or former employee of the Company, (iii) the acceleration of the time of payment or vesting or the funding of any compensation or benefits, or (iv) any new material obligation pursuant to any Employee Benefit Plan or Foreign Benefit Plan. As of the Closing, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will result in the payment of any amount that will not be deductible under Section 280G of the Code.

- (j) There is currently no material audit or to the Company's knowledge investigation by any Governmental Entity or any claim (other than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course) or material action (at law or in equity), suit, arbitration, review, inquiry, proceeding or to the Company's Knowledge investigation against or involving any Employee Benefit Plan.
- (k) Since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet, other than in the ordinary course of business, the Company has not formally adopted or authorized any additional Employee Benefit Plan or any material change in or termination of any existing Employee Benefit Plan.
- (l) The Company has properly classified for all purposes (including for Tax purposes and for purposes of determining eligibility to participate in any Employee Benefit Plan) all persons who have performed services for or on behalf of the Company.

#### Section 3.11. Environmental Matters.

- (a) The Company is to the Company's Knowledge in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws.
- (b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company holds and is in compliance in all material respects with all material permits, licenses and other authorizations that are required pursuant to Environmental Laws.
- (c) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.11, there is no judicial proceeding or order of any Governmental Entity pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened by a third party against the Company alleging a liability under any Environmental Laws, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in any liability under Environmental Law which is material to the Company taken as a whole.
- (d) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.11, the Company has not received any currently unresolved written notice of any material violation of, or material liability under (including any investigatory, corrective or remedial obligation), any Environmental Laws.
- (e) To the Knowledge of the Company, no hazardous materials have either been released by the Company or have otherwise directly caused contamination (other than the presence of asbestos-containing materials that are not required under applicable Environmental Laws to be abated) at, on or under the Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property, and Company has not generated, treated, stored, released, transported or arranged for transportation or disposal of any hazardous material at or from any location except, in either case as would not reasonably be expected to result in any liability under Environmental Law which is material to the Company.
- (f) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not identified Hazardous Substance contamination at or is remediating Hazardous Substances at any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property pursuant to any Environmental Law, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in any liability under Environmental Law which is material to the Company.
- (g) The Company has not (a) contractually assumed any liability of any other Person arising out of or pursuant to Environmental Law or (b) is subject to any unresolved consent decrees, administrative or judicial orders, judgments, or settlement agreements, in either case, that would reasonably be expected to result in any liability under Environmental Law which is material to the Company.

(h) The Company has provided or otherwise made available to JAC all material environmental audits, reports, and assessments concerning the business of the Company and its past and current properties, facilities or operations that are in the possession of the Company and which report had been prepared in the last two years.

# Section 3.12. Intellectual Property.

- (a) The Company owns, licenses or otherwise has the right to use the Intellectual Property Rights free and clear of any Liens, except for Permitted Liens or as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.12(a) (collectively, the "Company IP Rights"). Schedule 3.12(a) sets forth a list of patents, patent applications, material unregistered trademarks, trademark registrations, trademark applications and copyright registrations owned by the Company. All of the Company IP Rights listed on Schedule 3.12(a), and, the Knowledge of the Company, the registrations and applications listed therein, are valid and in full force and effect. Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.12(a), there is not pending against the Company any action by any third party contesting the use or ownership of the Company IP Rights. Further, (i) to the Company's Knowledge, the conduct of the business of the Company as currently conducted does not infringe, violate or misappropriate any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party; (ii) in the past two (2) years, the Company has not received any written communication, and no action has been instituted, settled or threatened, that alleges any such infringement, violation or misappropriation; (iii) in the past two (2) years, the Company has not received any written opinion of counsel relating to infringement, validity or enforceability of any Company IP Rights; and (iv) to the Company's Knowledge, no third party is infringing or misappropriating any material Company IP Rights.
- (b) The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and protect each item of Intellectual Property owned by the Company which is material to their businesses, including maintaining the confidentiality of their confidential or proprietary information. Subject to any necessary notices and consents, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not result in the forfeiture, cancellation, termination or other material impairment of, or give rise to any right of any Person to cancel, terminate or otherwise impair the right of the Company to own or use or otherwise exercise any other rights that the Company currently has with respect to any material Intellectual Property. Substantially all current salaried employees of the Company have executed confidentiality and work-for-hire agreements that accord the Company ownership rights, including, as necessary, by assignment, with respect to all Intellectual Property created by such employees in the course of their employment, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such employee is in violation thereof.
- (c) In the last twelve (12) months with respect to the computer systems, including software, used by the Company, there has not been any material failure with respect to any of the Company Systems that has not been remedied in all material respects. The Company has in place commercially reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality, integrity and security of the Company Systems (and all information and transactions stored or contained therein) against any unauthorized use, access or corruption. The Company has implemented commercially reasonable data backup, data storage, system redundancy and disaster avoidance and recovery procedures.

# Section 3.13. Labor Matters.

Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13, the Company is not a party to any collective bargaining agreement with respect to its employees. There is no labor strike, labor dispute, work stoppage or lockout pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened in writing against the Company. To the Company's Knowledge, no union organization campaign is in progress with respect to any employees of the Company and no unfair labor practice charge or complaint has been served on the Company. The Company has not engaged in any plant closing or employee layoff activities since the date of the Latest Balance Sheet that would violate the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state or local plant closing or mass layoff statute, rule or regulation.

#### Section 3.14. Insurance.

Schedule 3.14 contains a list of all material policies of insurance owned or held by the Company as of the date of this Agreement. All such policies provide coverage sufficient for a business of the size and type operated by the Company. All such policies are, as of the date of this Agreement, in full force and effect, all premiums with respect thereto covering all periods up to the Closing on the Closing Date will have been paid, and no written notice of cancellation, termination, material reduction in coverage or disallowance of any material claim has been received by the Company with respect to any such policy.

#### Section 3.15. Tax Matters.

#### (a) The Company has:

- (i) duly and timely filed, or caused to be filed, in accordance with applicable law all Company Tax Returns, each of which is true, correct and complete in all material respects, and
- (ii) duly and timely paid in full, or caused to be paid in full, all Company Taxes due and payable on or prior to the Closing Date.
- (b) No extension of time to file any Company Tax Return, which Company Tax Return has not since been filed in accordance with applicable law, has been filed. There is no power of attorney in effect with respect or relating to the Company, Company Tax or Company Tax Return. Since January 1, 2016, the Company has not been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated return.
- (c) The Company has complied in all respects with all applicable law relating to the deposit, collection, withholding, payment or remittance of any Company Tax (including, but not limited to, Code Section 3402).
- (d) There is no lien for any Tax upon any asset or property of the Company (except for any statutory lien for any Tax not yet due).
- (e) No Proceeding related to Taxes is pending, or to the Company's Knowledge, threatened or proposed with regard to the Company, Company Tax or Company Tax Return.
- (f) No statute of limitations for any ongoing Proceeding relating to any Company Tax or any Company Tax Return has been modified, extended or waived.
- (g) Any assessment, deficiency, adjustment or other similar item relating to any Company Tax or Company Tax Return has been reported to all Governmental Entities in accordance with applicable law.
- (h) No jurisdiction where no Company Tax Return has been filed or no Company Tax has been paid has a currently outstanding claim for the payment of any Company Tax or the filing of any Company Tax Return.
- (i) The Company is not required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, federal taxable income for any Tax period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date, as a result of a change in method of accounting, any installment sale or open transaction, any prepaid amount, refund or credit.
- (j) The Company is not or has never been a beneficiary of or otherwise participated in any reportable transaction within the past three years within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(1).

- (k) The Company has not distributed stock of another Person nor has its stock been distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code Section 355 or Code Section 361.
- (l) The Company is not a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of Code Section 897(c)(2) at any time during the applicable period referred to in Code Section 897(c)(l)(A)(ii).

#### Section 3.16. Brokers

Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16, no broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or investment banker's fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by and on behalf of the Company for which JAC would become liable after the Closing.

# Section 3.17. Real and Personal Property.

(a) Real Property. Schedule 3.17(a) sets forth (i) a list of all real property owned as of the date hereof by the Company (such real property, the "Owned Real Property") and (ii) whether as lessee or lessor, a list of all leases (each a "Material Lease") of real property (such real property, the "Leased Real Property") to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound, in each case, as of the date of this Agreement. The Company has good and marketable fee simple title to all of the Owned Real Property, in each case free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens or as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.17(a). Each Material Lease is valid and binding on the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms (subject to proper authorization and execution of such Material Lease by the other party thereto and subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors' rights and subject to general principles of equity). The Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each other party thereto, as applicable, has performed in all material respects all material obligations required to be performed by it under each Material Lease. With respect to each Material Lease, except as provided in Schedule 3.17(a), the other party to such lease is not an Affiliate of any Stockholder. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17(a), the Company has not subleased or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17(a), the Company has not collaterally assigned or granted any other security interest in the Leased Real Property or any interest therein. Except for the Permitted Liens or as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.17(a), there exist no material Liens affecting the Leased Real Property created by, through or under the Company.

(b) Personal Property. As of the date of this Agreement, the Company owns or holds under valid leases all material machinery, equipment and other tangible personal property used for the conduct of its business as currently conducted, subject to no Lien except for Permitted Liens or as otherwise set forth in Schedule 3.17(b). Such personal property is reasonably suitable for its intended use, is in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear), is free from material defects, and has been reasonably maintained.

#### Section 3.18. Transactions with Related Parties.

Schedule 3.18 sets forth all material arrangements between the Company, on the one hand, and Affiliates of the Company, on the other hand, that will not be terminated effective as of the Closing Date. To the Company's Knowledge, except as set forth in Schedule 3.18, none of the Company nor its respective Affiliates, directors, officers or employees possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial interest in, or is a director, officer or employee of, any Person (other than the Company) which is a material client, supplier, customer, lessor, lessee, or competitor of the Company. Ownership of securities of a company whose securities are registered under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, of five percent (5%) or less of any class of such securities shall not be deemed to be a financial interest for purposes of this Section 3.18.

# Section 3.19. Absence of Certain Payments.

As of the date of this Agreement, neither the Company, nor to the Company's Knowledge, any representative, consultant or agent thereof acting on the Company's behalf, has (i) used any corporate funds for any unlawful contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expense relating to political activity; (ii) made any direct or indirect unlawful payment to any foreign or domestic government official or employee from corporate funds; (iii) violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977; or (iv) made any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other unlawful payment.

#### Section 3.20. Customers and Suppliers.

Schedule 3.20 sets forth a list of the Company's five (5) largest customers and the five (5) largest suppliers as measured by the dollar amount of purchases therefrom or thereby, for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, showing the approximate total sales by the Company to each such customer and the approximate total purchases by the Company from each such supplier, during each such period. No such supplier or customer listed on Schedule 3.20, has (a) terminated its relationship with the Company, (b) reduced its business in any material way with the Company or materially and adversely modified its relationship with the Company as a whole, (c) notified the Company in writing of its intention to take any such action, or (d) to the Knowledge of the Company, become insolvent or subject to bankruptcy proceedings, in each case, that would be material to the Company.

# Section 3.21. Company Information.

None of the written information supplied or to be supplied by the Company relating to the Stockholders, the Company and/or the Company's stockholders, control Persons and Representatives expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the filings with the SEC, mailings to JAC's stockholders with respect to the Offer, and/or the redemption of Public Shares, any supplements thereto and/or in any other document filed with any Governmental Entity in connection herewith (including the Offer Documents) will, at the date of filing and/or mailing, as the case may be, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading (subject to the qualifications and limitations set forth in the materials provided by the Company or that are included in such filings and/or mailings; the definitive copies of which have been approved by the Company). No representation or warranty is made by Stockholders, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by, or on behalf of, JAC, any of their respective Affiliates or any other sourc.

# ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF STOCKHOLDERS

Except as set forth in the Schedules, each Stockholder, severally and not jointly, with respect solely to herself or himself, hereby represents and warrants to JAC as follows:

#### Section 4.1. Authority.

Such Stockholder has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

This Agreement has been (and each of the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder will be a party will be when delivered at the Closing) duly executed and delivered by such Stockholder and constitute (and, with respect to each of the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder will be a party, will constitute when delivered at the Closing) the valid, legal and binding agreement of such Stockholder (assuming that this Agreement has been, and the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder is a party will be, duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by the other Persons thereto), enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance with their terms, except (a) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (b) that the availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.

# Section 4.2. Consents and Approval; No Violations.

Assuming the truth and accuracy of the representations and warranties of JAC set forth in Section 5.3, no material notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or approvals of any Governmental Entity are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by such Stockholder of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder is a party or the consummation by such Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby. Neither the execution, delivery and performance by such Stockholder of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which such Stockholder is a party nor the consummation by such Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby will violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, law, statute, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over such Stockholder.

# Section 4.3. Title to the Company Shares; Ownership of Stockholder.

As of the date hereof, such Stockholder owns of record and beneficially the number of Company Shares set forth next to such Stockholder's name on Schedule 4.3 hereto and such Stockholder has good and valid title to such Shares, free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions under applicable federal, state and other securities laws). As of immediately prior to the Closing, such Stockholder will be the record and beneficial owner of the Company Shares and such Stockholder will have good and valid title to the Shares, free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions under applicable federal, state and other securities laws).

# Section 4.4. Litigation.

As of the date hereof, (a) there is no material suit, litigation, arbitration, claim, action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to such Stockholder's knowledge, threatened against such Stockholder before any Governmental Entity which, and (b) such Stockholder is not subject to any material outstanding order, writ, injunction or decree that, if not complied with, in either case, would have a material adverse effect on such Stockholder's ownership of such Stockholder's Company Shares, or otherwise prevent or materially delay the Closing.

#### Section 4.5. Brokers.

Except as set forth in Schedule 4.5, no broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's, investment banker's fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of such Stockholder for which the Company or JAC would become liable after the Closing.

# ARTICLE 5 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF JAC

JAC hereby represents and warrants to Stockholders and the Company as follows:

#### Section 5.1. Organization.

JAC is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation and has all requisite power and authority to carry on its businesses as now being conducted, except where the failure to have such power or authority would not prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party. JAC has delivered to Stockholders true, correct and complete copies of its Governing Documents in effect as of the date of this Agreement. JAC is not in default under or in violation of any provision of such Governing Documents.

# Section 5.2. Authority.

JAC has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party and, except as contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Except as contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of JAC and no other proceeding (including by its equityholders) on the part of JAC is necessary to authorize this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement has been (and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party will be when executed and delivered by JAC at the Closing) duly and validly executed and delivered by JAC and constitutes (and, with respect to each of the Ancillary Documents to which JAC will be a party, will constitute) a valid, legal and binding agreement of JAC (assuming this Agreement has been and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC is a party will be duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties thereto), enforceable against JAC in accordance with their respective terms, except (a) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (b) that the availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.

# Section 5.3. Consents and Approvals; No Violations.

Assuming the truth and accuracy of the Company's representations and warranties contained in Section 3.5 and the Stockholders' representations and warranties contained in Section 4.2, no material notice to, filing with, or authorization, consent or approval of any Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which JAC will be a party or the consummation by JAC of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except for those set forth on Schedule 5.3. Neither the execution, delivery and performance by JAC of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which JAC will be a party nor the consummation by JAC of the transactions contemplated hereby will (1) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of JAC's Governing Documents, (2) result in a violation or breach of, or cause acceleration, or constitute a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, license, contract, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which JAC is a party or by which JAC or any of its properties or assets may be bound, or (3) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, law, statute, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity applicable to JAC or any of its respective properties or assets.

#### Section 5.4. Absence of Changes.

Between the date of JAC's formation, as the case may be, and the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, except as otherwise set forth in Schedule 5.4, (a) to the knowledge of JAC there has not been and there will not be as of the Closing Date a JAC Material Adverse Effect and (b) JAC has conducted its business only in the ordinary course of business.

#### Section 5.5. Brokers.

Except as set forth on Schedule 5.5, no broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's, financial advisor's or investment banker's fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by and on behalf of such Party or any of its Affiliates for which JAC, any Stockholder, or the Company, may become liable.

#### Section 5.6. Transactions with Related Parties.

Schedule 5.6 sets forth all material arrangements between the JAC, on the one hand, and Affiliates of JAC (other than any employee of JAC who is not an executive officer of JAC), on the other hand, that will not be terminated effective as of the Closing Date. Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.6 and neither of JAC, nor any of its Affiliates, directors, officers or employees possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial interest in, or is a director, officer or employee of, any Person (other than the JAC) which is a material client, supplier, customer, lessor, lessee, or competitor of JAC. Ownership of securities of a company whose securities are registered under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, of five percent (5%) or less of any class of such securities shall not be deemed to be a financial interest for purposes of this Section 5.6.

#### Section 5.7. JAC Information.

None of the information supplied or to be supplied by JAC or any of its Affiliates expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the filings with the SEC, mailings to JAC's shareholders with respect to the Offer and/or the redemption of Public Shares, any supplements thereto and/or in any other document filed with any Governmental Entity in connection herewith (including the Offer Documents), will, at the date of filing and/or mailing, as the case may be, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading (subject to the qualifications and limitations set forth in the materials provided by JAC or that is included in the JAC SEC Documents). No representation or warranty is made by the JAC with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by, or on behalf of, Stockholders or the Company.

#### Section 5.8. Trust Account.

As of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, JAC has and will have approximately \$7,968,000 (the "Trust Amount") in the Trust Account and held in trust by the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The Trust Amount may, however, be reduced in accordance with the express terms of the Trust Agreement and to pay franchise taxes.

#### Section 5.9. JAC Board Approval.

The JAC Board (including any required committee or subgroup of such board), at a meeting duly called and held and acting upon the unanimous recommendation of the independent disinterested members of the JAC Board, has, as of the date of this Agreement, unanimously (a) approved and declared the advisability of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, (b) determined that this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby are in the best interests of JAC and its stockholders and have approved the recommendation of same to its stockholders, and (c) determined that the transactions contemplated hereby constitute a "Business Combination" as such term is defined in JAC's Governing Documents.

#### Section 5.10. JAC SEC Documents and Financial Statements

JAC has duly and timely filed all forms, reports, schedules, statements and other documents, including any exhibits thereto, required to be filed or furnished by JAC with the SEC since JAC's formation under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, together with any amendments, restatements or supplements thereto, and will file all such forms, reports, schedules, statements and other documents required to be filed subsequent to the date of this Agreement (the "Additional JAC SEC Documents"). JAC has made available to the Company copies in the form filed with the SEC of all of the following, except to the extent available in full without redaction on the SEC's website through EDGAR for at least two (2) days prior to the date of this Agreement: (a) JAC's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each fiscal quarter of JAC beginning with the first quarter JAC was required to file such a form, (b) its Current Reports on Form 8-K filed since the effectiveness of its registration statement on Form 8-A, (c) all other forms, reports, registration statements and other documents (other than preliminary materials if the corresponding definitive materials have been provided to the Company pursuant to this Section 5.10) filed by JAC with the SEC since JAC's formation (the forms, reports, registration statements and other documents referred to in clauses (a), (b), and (c) above, whether or not available through EDGAR, are, collectively, the ("JAC SEC Documents"). The JAC SEC Documents were, and Additional JAC SEC Documents will be, prepared in all material respects in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations thereunder. The JAC SEC Documents did not, and the Additional JAC SEC Documents will not, at the time they were or are filed, as the case may be, with the SEC (except to the extent that information contained in any JAC SEC Document or Additional JAC SEC Document has been or is revised or superseded by a later filed JAC SEC Document or Additional JAC SEC Document, then on the date of such filing) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As used in this Section 5.10,

	2	3		

# Section 5.11. Litigation.

As of the date of this Agreement and as the Closing Date, (a) there is no suit, litigation, arbitration, claim, action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to JAC's knowledge, threatened against JAC before any Governmental Entity which, and (b) JAC is subject to any outstanding order, writ, injunction or decree that, in either case, would, if finally determined pursuant to a final nonappealable judgment, have an adverse effect which is material to JAC, taken as a whole. JAC has not filed nor does it intend to file any suit, litigation, arbitration, claim or action against any other Person.

# Section 5.12. Absence of Certain Payments.

As of the date of this Agreement and as the Closing Date,, neither JAC, nor to JAC's knowledge, any representative, consultant or agent thereof acting on JAC's behalf, has (i) used any corporate funds for any unlawful contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expense relating to political activity; (ii) made any direct or indirect unlawful payment to any foreign or domestic government official or employee from corporate funds; (iii) violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977; or (iv) made any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other unlawful payment.

# Section 5.13. Capitalization.

JAC's authorized capital stock consists of 15,000,000 shares of JAC Common Stock, of which 1,819,482 shares are issued and are outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, \$.0001 par value, of which no shares are issued or outstanding as of the date of this Agreement. All the aforesaid issued and outstanding shares of JAC Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Except as set forth in the JAC SEC Documents, there are no outstanding preemptive, conversion or other rights, options, warrants or agreements granted or issued by or binding upon JAC for the purchase or acquisition of any shares of its capital stock.

# Section 5.14. Compliance with Law.

JAC holds, as of the date hereof, all material permits, licenses, approvals, certificates and other authorizations of and from all, and have made all material declarations and filings with, Governmental Entities necessary for the lawful conduct of its business as presently conducted. As of the date of this Agreement, the business of JAC is operated in material compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and orders of all applicable Governmental Entities. There is no suit, claim or action pending or, to JAC's knowledge, threatened by any Governmental Entity with respect to any alleged material violation by of any law, rule, regulation, code, ordinance or order of any Governmental Entity.

#### Section 5.15. Tax Matters.

# (a) JAC has:

- (i) duly and timely filed, or caused to be filed, in accordance with applicable law all Tax Returns which it has been required to file, each of which is true, correct and complete in all material respects, and
- (ii) duly and timely paid in full, or caused to be paid in full, all Taxes due and payable by it on or prior to the Closing Date.
- (b) No extension of time to file any JAC Tax Return, which JAC Tax Return has not since been filed in accordance with applicable law, has been filed. There is no power of attorney in effect with respect or relating to any JAC, JAC Tax or JAC Tax Return. Since January 1, 2016, JAC has not been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated return.
- (c) JAC has complied in all respects with all applicable law relating to the deposit, collection, withholding, payment or remittance of any Tax (including, but not limited to, Code Section 3402).
- (d) There is no lien for any Tax upon any asset or property of JAC (except for any statutory lien for any Tax not yet due).
- (e) No Proceeding related to Taxes is pending, or to JAC's knowledge, threatened or proposed with regard to JAC, JAC Tax or JAC Tax Return.
- (f) No statute of limitations for any ongoing Proceeding relating to any JAC Tax or any JAC Tax Return has been modified, extended or waived.
- (g) Any assessment, deficiency, adjustment or other similar item relating to any JAC Tax or JAC Tax Return has been reported to all Governmental Entities in accordance with applicable law.
- (h) No jurisdiction where no JAC Tax Return has been filed or no JAC Tax has been paid has a currently outstanding claim for the payment of any JAC Tax or the filing of any JAC Tax Return.
- (i) JAC is not required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, federal taxable income for any Tax period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date, as a result of a change in method of accounting, any installment sale or open transaction, any prepaid amount, refund or credit.
- (j) JAC is not a beneficiary of or otherwise participated in any reportable transaction within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(1).
- (k) JAC has not distributed stock of another Person nor has its stock been distributed by another Person, in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code Section 355 or Code Section 361.
- (l) JAC is not, a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of Code Section 897(c)(2) at any time during the applicable period referred to in Code Section 897(c)(l)(A)(ii).

# Section 5.16. Employee Benefit Plans.

JAC does not maintain, sponsor or contribute to any material benefit, retirement, employment, compensation, incentive, stock option, restricted stock, stock appreciation right, phantom equity, change in control, severance, vacation, paid time off, fringe-benefit agreement, plan, policy or program covering any of its employees, former employees, current or former directors or the beneficiaries or dependents of any such Persons.

#### Section 5.17. Material Contracts.

JAC is not a party to any material contract which has not been filed as an exhibit to a JAC SEC Document and has not conducted any business since its date of organization.

#### Section 5.18. Issuance of Exchange Shares.

All of the Exchange Shares to be issued and delivered to the Stockholders in accordance with Section 2.1 shall be, upon issuance and delivery of such Exchange Shares, fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all Liens, other than restrictions arising from applicable securities Laws, the applicable Lock-Up Agreement and any Liens incurred by the Company or any Stockholder, and the issuance and sale of such Exchange Shares pursuant hereto will not be subject to or give rise to any preemptive rights or rights of first refusal.

# Section 5.19. Independent Investigation.

JAC has conducted its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, results of operations, prospects, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Company and acknowledges that it has been provided adequate access to the personnel, properties, assets, premises, books and records, and other documents and data of the Company for such purpose. JAC acknowledges and agrees that: (a) in making its decision to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, it has relied solely upon its own investigation and the express representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3 (including the related portions of the applicable Schedules) and the express representations and warranties of each of the Stockholders set forth in Section 4 (including the related portions of the applicable Schedules); and (b) none of the Company, the Stockholders nor any of their respective Representatives have made any representation or warranty as to the Company, or this Agreement, except as expressly set forth in Section 3 or Section 4 (including the related portions of the applicable Schedules).

# ARTICLE 6 COVENANTS

# Section 6.1. Conduct of Business of the Company and JAC.

(a) Except as contemplated by this Agreement, from and after the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms (the "Pre-Closing Period"), JAC and the Company shall, and shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries to, except as set forth on Schedule 6.1(b) or as consented to in writing by Stockholders (in the case of JAC) and JAC (in the case of the Company) (in each case, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (i) conduct its business in the ordinary and regular course in substantially the same manner heretofore conducted (including any conduct that is reasonably related, complementary or incidental thereto) and (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact its business organization and to preserve the present commercial relationships with key Persons with whom it does business.

(b) Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, as required by applicable law or as set forth in Schedule 6.1(b), the Company shall not do or cause to be done any of the following without the prior consent of JAC (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

- (i) issue (A) any equity securities of or any equity interest in the Company; or (B) any options, warrants, rights of conversion or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments obligating the Company to issue, deliver or sell any equity securities of or any equity interest in the Company;
- (ii) (A) obtain or incur any Funded Indebtedness in excess of \$100,000 (other than pursuant to the Company's Credit Facilities existing as of the date hereof up to an amount not to exceed the facility limit applicable to each such credit facility as of the date hereof) or (B) create any Lien on any assets or properties (whether tangible or intangible) of the Company, other than Permitted Liens;
- (iii) sell, assign, transfer, lease, license or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell, assign, transfer, lease, license or otherwise dispose of, any of the material fixed assets of the Company having a value in excess of \$100,000;
- (iv) acquire (by merger, consolidation or combination, or acquisition of stock or assets) any corporation, partnership or other business organization or division thereof;
- (v) except in the ordinary course of business, enter into or amend, terminate or extend (other than as a result of automatic renewals and extensions set forth therein) any Material Contract or Material Lease, or waive, release, assign or fail to enforce any material rights or claims under any such Material Contract or Material Lease;
- (vi) (A) enter into or amend any employment, deferred compensation, severance or similar agreement, except any employment agreement providing for annual base salary of less than \$100,000 per annum; (B) increase the compensation payable, or to become payable, by the Company to directors or officers of the Company; (C) pay or make provision for the payment of any bonus, stock option, stock purchase, profit sharing, deferred compensation, pension, retirement or other similar payment or arrangement to any employee of the Company, or any director or officer of the Company; or (D) other than as required by applicable law, rule or regulation, increase the coverage or benefits available under any employee benefit plan, payment or arrangement made to, for or with any director, officer, employee of any Company, agent or representative, other than, in the case of each of clauses (A) through (D), increases, payments or provisions which are made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, or which are made pursuant to a contractual obligation in existence as of the date of this Agreement;
- (vii) make any capital expenditures in excess of \$100,000 individually or \$200,000 in the aggregate;
- (viii) adopt or materially change any method of financial or Tax accounting or financial or Tax accounting practice used by the Company, other than as required by GAAP or applicable law;
- (ix) allow any material insurance policy of the Company to lapse uncured;
- (x) effect or agree to any change, other than in the ordinary course of business with regard to any material practices or terms, including payment terms, with respect to the Company customers or suppliers listed on Schedule 3.20;
- (xi) waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any material rights, claims or litigation (including relating to any confidentiality agreement) with a value in excess of \$100,000;
- (xii) amend the Governing Documents of the Company;
- (xiii) adopt or effect a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization; or

(xiv) enter into any agreement to take, or cause to be taken, any of the actions set forth in this Section 6.1(b).

- (c) Except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, as required by applicable law or as set forth in Schedule 6.1(c), JAC shall not do or cause to be done any of the following without the prior consent of Stockholders (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):
- (i) issue (A) any shares, capital stock or other securities; or (B) any options, warrants, rights of conversion or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments obligating JAC to issue, deliver or sell any shares, capital stock or other securities, except that JAC may conduct a private offering of securities in an aggregate amount of up to \$3,000,000 and/or arrange for backstop financing to replace funds in the Trust Account in the aggregate amount of up to \$3,000,000 and pay commissions of up to ten percent (10%) with respect to each of such transactions:
- (ii) adopt or proposed any amendment to the Governing Documents of JAC or any of its Subsidiaries; or
- (iii) acquire any capital stock, membership interest, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity or other interest in any Person, or merge, consolidate or adopt a plan or scheme of arrangement with, or purchase a substantial portion of the assets of any Person or any division or business thereof;
- (iv) create, issue, deliver, pledge or sell, or propose or authorize the creation, issuance, delivery, pledge or sale of, or grant any options or other awards with respect to any capital stock or other equity securities, or make any other agreements with respect to, any of its shares of capital stock or any other securities or adopt or implement any stockholder or member rights plan;
- (v) as applicable, split, combine, divide, subdivide, reclassify or redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, or propose to redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire, any shares of its capital stock or any other securities;
- (vi) increase in any manner the compensation or benefits payable or to become payable to any Founder;
- (vii) adopt or effect a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization; or
- (viii) enter into any agreement to take, or cause to be taken, any of the actions set forth in this Section 6.1(c) or publicly recommend, publicly propose or publicly announce an intention to do any of the foregoing.

# Section 6.2. Certain Tax Matters.

All sales, use, value added, transfer, stamp, registration, real property transfer or similar Taxes ("Transfer Taxes") arising in connection with the transfer of the Company Shares hereunder shall be borne by the Stockholders and JAC on a fifty-fifty basis. The Party responsible under applicable law for filing any Tax Return with respect to Transfer Taxes shall file such Tax Return required to be filed to report Transfer Taxes imposed on or with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. All Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to avail themselves of any available exemptions from any such Taxes, and to cooperate with the other Parties in providing any information and documentation that may be necessary to obtain such exemptions.

#### Section 6.3. Access to Information.

- (a) During the Pre-Closing Period, upon reasonable notice, and subject to restrictions contained in the confidentiality agreements to which the Company is subject, the Company shall, provide to JAC, and its authorized Representatives during normal business hours reasonable access to all books and records of the Company reasonably requested (in a manner so as to not interfere with the normal business operations of the Company); provided that (a) such access shall occur in such a manner as the Company reasonably determines to be appropriate to protect the confidentiality of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (b) all requests for such access shall be directed to a Designated Contact. All of such information provided to JAC, or any of its Affiliates or Representative shall be treated as confidential information pursuant to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, the provisions and restrictions of which are by this reference hereby incorporated herein and expressly made applicable to and enforceable against JAC.
- (b) During the Pre-Closing Period, upon reasonable notice, JAC shall to provide to the Company, and its authorized Representatives during normal business hours reasonable access to all books and records of JAC reasonably requested (in a manner so as to not interfere with the normal business operations of JAC); provided that (a) such access shall occur in such a manner as JAC reasonably determines to be appropriate to protect the confidentiality of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (b) all requests for such access shall be directed to a Designated Contact. All of such information provided to the Company, or any of its Affiliates or Representatives shall be treated as confidential information pursuant to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, the provisions and restrictions of which are by this reference hereby incorporated herein and expressly made applicable to and enforceable against JAC.

# Section 6.4. Efforts to Consummate; Regulatory Matters.

- (a) Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each Party shall cooperate with the other Parties and use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws, rules and regulations to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the satisfaction, but not waiver, of the closing conditions set forth in ARTICLE 7).
- (b) Each Party shall use reasonable commercially reasonable to obtain all consents, permits and other authorizations of all Governmental Entities (including all state securities law or "Blue Sky" permits and approvals) necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (c) Subject to the terms hereof, each Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to furnish each other with all pertinent information concerning itself, its Affiliates, its Representatives and shareholders and interest holders, and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any schedule, statement, filing, notice or application made by or on behalf of any Party or its Affiliates to any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. Each Party shall promptly advise the other Parties upon their or any of their Subsidiaries receiving any communication from any Governmental Entity whose consent or approval is required for consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements that causes the affected Party to believe that there is a reasonable likelihood that any approval of such Governmental Entity will not be obtained or that the receipt of any such approval will be materially delayed.

(e) In the event any claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding by any Governmental Entity or other Person is commenced which questions the validity or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby or seeks damages in connection therewith, the Parties agree to cooperate and use their commercially reasonable efforts to defend against such claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding and, if an injunction or other order is issued in any such action, suit or other proceeding, to use their commercially reasonable efforts to have such injunction or other order lifted, and to cooperate reasonably regarding any other impediment to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

# Section 6.5. The Proxy.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the date hereof JAC shall file a proxy statement relating to the Offer and the Business Combination contemplated hereby with the SEC (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Proxy Statement") and provide its stockholders with the opportunity to redeem their shares in conjunction with a stockholder vote on the Business Combination and other transactions contemplated under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, all in accordance with and as required by JAC's Governing Documents (including the Prospectus and the Certificate of Incorporation), any related agreements with the Founders, applicable law, and any applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq. To this end, JAC with provide the Company prior to filing copies of the draft proxy statements and a reasonable opportunity to comment on and consult with respect thereto.

(b) Without limitation, in the Proxy Statement, JAC shall (i) seek (A) adoption and approval of this Agreement by the holders of JAC Common Stock in accordance with applicable law and exchange rules and regulations, (B) to elect five (5) directors, three (3) of whom shall be designated by the Company and two (2) of whom shall be designated by the JAC Board (the "JAC Designees"), and (C) to amend its certificate of incorporation to increase its authorized number of shares of JAC Common Stock to a number of shares mutually acceptable to the Company and JAC and change the name of JAC to a name mutually acceptable to the Company and JAC, and (ii) file with the SEC financial and other information about the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the proxy Solicitation rules promulgated under the Exchange Act and the Certificate of Incorporation) (such Proxy Statement and the documents included or referred to therein pursuant to which the Offer will be made, together with any supplements, amendments and/or exhibits thereto, the "Offer Documents"). When filed, the Proxy Statement and other Offer Documents will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. JAC shall cause the Offer Documents to be disseminated as promptly as practicable to JAC's equityholders as and to the extent such dissemination is required by United States federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq promulgated thereunder or otherwise (the "Federal Securities Laws"). The Company shall provide to JAC all information concerning the Company that may be required by Federal Securities Laws or reasonably requested by JAC for inclusion in the Proxy Statement as soon as practicable after such information is requested by JAC and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide all audited financial statements of the Company and the Company by December 31, 2018. JAC shall cause the Offer Documents to comply in all material respects with the Federal Securities Laws. JAC shall provide copies of the proposed forms of the Offer Documents (including any amendments or supplements thereto) to Stockholders and the Company within a reasonable time prior to the dissemination or filing thereof (but no less than five business days prior to the anticipated filing date) for review and comment by Stockholder and the Company and their respective Representatives, and shall not file any such documents without reflecting the comments of such Persons or to which such persons reasonably object. JAC and the Company shall respond promptly to any comments of the SEC or its staff with respect to the Offer or the Offer Documents and promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Offer Documents if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect or as otherwise required by the Federal Securities Laws. JAC shall amend or supplement the Offer Documents and cause the Offer Documents, as so amended or supplemented, to be filed with the SEC and to be disseminated to the holders of shares of JAC Common Stock, in each case as and to the extent required by the Federal Securities Laws and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and JAC's Governing Documents. JAC shall promptly provide Stockholders, the Company and their respective Representatives with copies of any written comments, and shall inform them of any material oral comments, that JAC, or any of their respective Representatives receive from the SEC or its staff with respect to the Offer or the Offer Documents promptly after the receipt of such comments and shall give Stockholder and the Company a reasonable opportunity under the circumstances to review and comment on any proposed written or material oral responses to such comments. JAC shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to "clear" comments from the SEC and its staff and to permit Stockholder, the Company and their respective Representatives to participate with JAC, or their respective Representatives in any discussions or meetings with the SEC and its staff.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, JAC shall consult with Stockholders prior to publicly filing any Schedules, Annexes or Exhibits to this Agreement in order to determine whether such filing is required by any applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes or ordinances of applicable Governmental Entities.

# Section 6.6. Third Party Consents.

(a) Prior to the Closing, and as necessary, following the Closing, the Stockholders shall use their commercially reasonable efforts, and shall prior to the Closing cause the Company to, use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) notify any third parties who are required by any Material Contract or Material Lease to be notified of the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) obtain all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties ("Consents") under any Material Contract or Material Lease (provided that grant of such Consent is not subject to any restrictions or other requirements that would adversely affect the business of the Company so that none of the effects set forth in Section 3.5(x) have or will occur as a result of the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated hereby by the Stockholders or the Company or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby) and (iii) satisfy any legal requirement necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as promptly as possible after the date hereof. In furtherance of the foregoing, JAC shall cooperate and use all commercially reasonable efforts to assist the Stockholders in obtaining such Consents and agrees to provide such assurances as to financial capability, resources and creditworthiness as may be reasonably requested by any third party whose consent is sought hereunder.

(b) Without limiting JAC's obligations set forth in this Agreement, prior to the Closing, JAC shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) notify any third parties who are required to be notified of the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) satisfy any legal requirement necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as promptly as possible after the date hereof.

#### Section 6.7. Notice.

Prior to the Closing, (a) the Stockholders and the Company shall promptly notify JAC in writing of all events, circumstances, facts and occurrences arising subsequent to the date of this Agreement which would result in a breach of any representation or warranty or covenant of the Stockholders or the Company in this Agreement such that any of the conditions contained in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b) would not be satisfied and (b) JAC shall promptly notify Stockholders and the Company in writing of all events, circumstances, facts and occurrences arising subsequent to the date of this Agreement which would result in a breach of any representation or warranty or covenant of JAC in this Agreement such that any of the conditions contained in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) would not be satisfied.

# Section 6.8. Public Announcements.

JAC, on the one hand, and the Stockholders and the Company, on the other hand, shall consult with one another and seek one another's written approval before issuing any Reviewable Document, and shall not, and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to, issue any such Reviewable Document prior to such consultation and approval; provided that each Party may make any such announcement which it in good faith believes, based on advice of counsel, is necessary or advisable in connection with any requirement of law or regulation or rule of any applicable national securities exchange, it being understood and agreed that each Party shall provide the other Parties with copies of any such announcement in advance of such issuance; provided, further, that each Party may make internal announcements to their respective employees that are not inconsistent in any material respects with the Parties' prior public disclosures regarding the transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement, in no event shall either this Section 6.8 or any provision of the Confidentiality Agreement limit disclosure by Stockholders or any of their Affiliates (which, after the Closing, shall not include the Company) to any direct or indirect investors in any such Person, as applicable, or in connection with normal fund raising and related marketing or informational or reporting activities of Stockholder or any such Affiliate. Any language included in a Reviewable Document that reflects the comments of the reviewing party, as well as any text as to which the reviewing party has not commented upon after being given a reasonable opportunity to comment, shall be deemed to have been approved by the reviewing party and may henceforth be used by the other party in other Reviewable Documents and in other documents distributed by the other party in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without further review or consent of the reviewing party.

# Section 6.9. Exclusive Dealing.

- (a) During the Pre-Closing Period, the Company and Stockholders shall not take, nor shall they permit any of their respective officers, directors, employees, representatives, consultants, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants or other agents to take, any action to solicit, encourage, initiate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to or enter into any agreement with any Person (other than JAC and/or their respective Affiliates) concerning any purchase of any of the Company's equity securities or any merger, sale of substantial assets or similar transaction involving the Company, other than assets sold in the ordinary course of business, the purchase and sale of the Common Shares contemplated hereby.
- (b) During the Pre-Closing Period, JAC shall not take, nor shall they permit any of their respective officers, directors, employees, representatives, consultants, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants or other agents to take, any action to solicit, encourage, initiate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to or enter into any agreement with any Person (other than the Company and/or its Affiliates) concerning the acquisition of any operating business, merger, or acquisition of substantial assets or similar transaction involving JAC.

#### Section 6.10. Documents and Information.

After the Closing Date, JAC and the Company shall, until the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date, retain all books, records and other documents pertaining to the business of the Company in existence on the Closing Date and make the same available for inspection and copying by the Stockholders during normal business hours of the Company upon reasonable request and upon reasonable notice. No such books, records or documents shall be destroyed after the seventh anniversary of the Closing Date by JAC without first advising the Stockholders in writing and giving the Stockholders a reasonable opportunity to obtain possession thereof. Each Party shall cooperate in the defense of any action or inquiry relating to periods prior to the Closing Date and each shall provide access to properties and individuals as reasonably requested and furnish or cause to be furnished records, information and testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials or appeals as may reasonably be requested by another Party in connection therewith.

#### Section 6.11. Contact with Customers, Suppliers and Other Business Relations.

During the Pre-Closing Period, JAC hereby agrees that (other than with respect to the Designated Contacts) JAC is not authorized to and shall not (and shall not permit any of its employees, agents, representatives or Affiliates to) contact any partner, member, equityholder (other than the Stockholders), officer, director, employee, customer, supplier, distributor, joint-venture partner, lessor, lender or other material business relation of the Company regarding the Company, its business or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in each case, without the prior written consent of the Company or the Stockholders.

#### Section 6.12. Affiliated Transactions.

Except as noted in such schedule, the Company shall cause all of the contracts and agreements which are required to be set forth in Schedule 3.18 (regardless of whether they are, in fact, so listed) to be terminated at or prior to the Closing.

# Section 6.13. No JAC Common Stock Transactions; Listing.

Neither the Company, Stockholders nor any of their respective Affiliates, directly or indirectly, shall engage in any transactions involving the securities of JAC prior to the time of the making of a public announcement of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or if earlier, the termination of this Agreement. The Company shall use commercially reasonable to require each of its officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, and representatives, to comply with the foregoing sentence. From the date of this Agreement through the Closing, JAC shall take all reasonable efforts which are necessary or reasonably desirable for JAC to remain listed as a public company on, and for shares of JAC Common Stock to be tradable over, the applicable Nasdaq market(s).

# Section 6.14. No Claim Against Trust Account.

The Company and each that JAC has established the Trust Account for the benefit of JAC's public shareholders and that prior to the Closing, JAC may disburse monies from the Trust Account only (a) to JAC's public shareholders in the event they elect to have their shares redeemed in accordance with JAC's Charter Documents and/or the liquidation of JAC and (b) to pay income and franchise tax obligations from interest income earned in the Trust Account. The Company and Stockholder further acknowledge that, if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (or, upon termination of this Agreement, another Business Combination) are not consummated by July 2, 2019 (as such date may be extended by a vote of JAC's stockholders), JAC will be obligated to return to its shareholders the amounts being held in the Trust Account, unless such date is otherwise extended to a later date pursuant to the terms of the Certificate of Incorporation. Accordingly, the Company and each Stockholder, for each of itself, himself, herself and the subsidiaries, affiliated entities, directors, officers, employees, shareholders, representatives, advisors of the Company and all other associates and Affiliates, hereby waive all rights, title, interest or claim of any kind against JAC to collect from the Trust Account any monies that may be owed to them by JAC for any reason whatsoever, including a breach of this Agreement by JAC or any negotiations, agreements or understandings with JAC (whether in the past, present or future), and will not seek recourse against the Trust Account at any time for any reason whatsoever, in each case except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement (including the remedies provided in Section 10.12). This paragraph will survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

#### Section 6.15. JAC Borrowings.

Through the Closing, JAC shall be allowed to borrow funds from its directors, officers, shareholders and/or their respective affiliates to meet its reasonable capital requirements, with any such loans to be made only as reasonably required by the operation of JAC in due course on a non-interest bearing basis and repayable at Closing (or convertible into JAC Common Stock); provided, however, that JAC's directors, officers, shareholders and their respective affiliates may loan funds to JAC for deposit in the Trust Account to fund the extension of the date by which JAC must complete its initial business combination and such loans may be interest bearing. The proceeds of such loans shall not be used for the payment of salaries, bonuses or other compensation to any of JAC's directors, officers or shareholders.

# ARTICLE 7 CONDITIONS TO CONSUMMATION OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT

Section 7.1. Conditions to the Obligations of the Company, JAC and Stockholders.

The obligations of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction (or, if permitted by applicable law, waiver by the Parties) of the following conditions:

- (a) no statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by any court or other Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition preventing the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be in effect and no proceeding or lawsuit shall have been commenced by any Governmental Entity for the purpose of obtaining any such order, decree, injunction, restraint or prohibition; provided, however, that no Party shall be entitled to invoke this condition unless the Party shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the entry of any such injunction or other order or the commencement of any such proceeding or lawsuit and to appeal as promptly as possible any injunction or other order that may be entered;
  - (b) the Offer being completed in accordance with the terms hereof and the Offer Documents; and
- (c) JAC shall have at least \$5,000,001 of net tangible assets (as determined in accordance with Rule 3a51-1(g)(1) of the Exchange Act) on a consolidated basis remaining after the closing of the Offer and the Exchange;
  - (d) all Consents shall have been obtained;
- (e) JAC shall be in compliance with all continued listing requirements with The Nasdaq Stock Market (or shall have received a waiver of such requirements or an extension of time to regain compliance); and
- (f) JAC shall have completed its due diligence investigation of the Company (including the contents of the Schedules), and shall be reasonably satisfied with the results of such investigation, and this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved by the JAC Board of Directors.

Section 7.2. Other Conditions to the Obligations of JAC.

The obligations of JAC to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or, if permitted by applicable law, waiver by JAC of the following further conditions:

- (a) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE 3 hereof and Stockholders set forth in ARTICLE 4 hereof shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except, in each case, to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in which case the same shall be so true and correct as of the specified date).
- (b) the Stockholders and the Company shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants required to be performed or complied with by the Company under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing;

- (c) JAC shall have received an opinion from an investment banking firm that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are fair, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of JAC (the "Fairness Opinion");
- (d) JAC shall be reasonably satisfied with the contents of the Schedules to this Agreement delivered after the date hereof pursuant to Article 3;
- (e) The Company shall have an amount of net tangible assets (as determined in accordance with Rule 3a51-1(g)(1) of the Exchange Act) on a consolidated basis after giving effect to closing of the Offer and Exchange as of the Closing Date;
- (f) Since the date of this Agreement, no Company Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred, which has not been waived;
  - (g) prior to or at the Closing, the Company shall have delivered the following closing documents:
- (i) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that the conditions specified in Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.2(b) have been satisfied by the Company and the Stockholders, as applicable;
- (ii) a certified copy of the resolutions of the Company's board of directors, other governing body or group of equityholders, as applicable, authorizing the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and
- (iii) the Lock-Up Agreement duly executed by each Stockholder.

Section 7.3. Other Conditions to the Obligations of the Company and Stockholders.

The obligations of the Company and Stockholders to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or, if permitted by applicable law, waiver by the Company and/or Stockholders of the following further conditions:

- (a) the representations and warranties of JAC set forth in ARTICLE 5 hereof shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except, in each case, to the extent such representations and warranties are made on and as of a specified date, in which case the same shall be so true and correct as of the specified date;
- (b) JAC shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants required to be performed or complied with by JAC under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing;
  - (c) since the date of this Agreement, no JAC Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred and be continuing;
  - (d) JAC shall have discharged the JAC Obligations in compliance with the terms of Section 2.8; and
  - (e) prior to or at the Closing, JAC shall have delivered the following closing documents:
- (i) certificates evidencing the Exchange Shares, duly executed by officers of JAC;
- (ii) a certificate of an authorized officer of JAC, dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that the conditions specified in Section 7.3(a) and Section 7.3(b) have been satisfied;

- (iii) a certified copy of the resolutions of the JAC Board authorizing the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and
- (iv) written resignations of each of the officers and directors of JAC set forth on Schedule 7.3(e)(iv).

Section 7.4. Frustration of Closing Conditions.

No Party may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this ARTICLE 7 to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Party's failure to use the efforts to cause the Closing to occur required by Section 6.4.

# ARTICLE 8 TERMINATION; AMENDMENT; WAIVER

Section 8.1. Termination.

This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be abandoned at any time prior to the Closing:

- (a) by mutual written consent of JAC and the Company;
- (b) by JAC, if any of the representations or warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE 3 or the representations and warranties of the Stockholders set forth in ARTICLE 4 shall not be true and correct such that the condition to Closing set forth in Section 7.2(a) would not be satisfied; provided that, prior to any termination of this Agreement under this Section 8.1(b), the Company and Stockholders shall be entitled to cure any such breach during a thirty (30) day period following receipt of written notice from JAC to the Stockholders of such breach (it being understood that JAC may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(b) if such breach by the Company or the Stockholders is cured during such thirty (30) day period so that such condition would then be satisfied);
- (c) by the Company, if any of the representations or warranties of JAC set forth in ARTICLE 5 shall not be true and correct such that the condition to Closing set forth in Section 7.3(a) would not be satisfied; provided that, prior to any termination of this Agreement under this Section 8.1(c), JAC shall be entitled to cure any such breach during a thirty (30) day period following receipt of written notice from Stockholders to JAC of such breach (it being understood that the Company may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(c) if such breach by JAC is cured during such thirty (30) day period so that such condition would then be satisfied);
- (d) by either the Company or JAC, if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been consummated on or prior to July 2, 2019 (the "Outside Date"); provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(d) shall not be available to any Party if the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is the result of a breach by such Party of its representations, warranties, obligations or covenants under this Agreement; and
- (e) by either JAC or the Company, if any Governmental Entity shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action permanently enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such order, decree or ruling or other action shall have become final and non-appealable.

#### Section 8.2. Effect of Termination.

In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1, this entire Agreement shall forthwith become void (and there shall be no liability or obligation on the part of any Party, its Affiliates, or their respective officers, directors or equityholders) with the exception of (a) the provisions of this Section 8.2, Section 8.3 and ARTICLE 10, and (b) any liability of any Party for any willful and material breach of the covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement (which, for the avoidance of doubt and without limiting any Party's rights hereunder (including any rights to specific performance pursuant to Section 10.13) shall be deemed to include any willful failure by JAC to, when required, consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) prior to such termination. For purposes of this Section 8.2, "willful" shall mean a breach that is a consequence of an act undertaken by the breaching party with the knowledge that the taking of such act would, or would be reasonably expected to, cause a breach of this Agreement.

# Section 8.3. Termination Payment.

- (a) If this Agreement is terminated by JAC pursuant to Section 8.1(b), then the Company shall pay to JAC a termination fee in the amount of \$300,000 within five (5) days of receipt of written notice of such termination. Payment to JAC of the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.3(a) will constitute the payment of liquidated damages as JAC's sole and exclusive remedy under such circumstances.
- (b) If this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(c), then JAC shall pay to the Company a termination fee in the amount of \$300,000 within five (5) days of receipt of written notice of such termination. Payment to the Company of the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.3(b) will constitute the payment of liquidated damages as the Company's sole and exclusive remedy under such circumstances.
- (c) If this Agreement is terminated by JAC or the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(d) and the failure to either consummate the transaction in the case of Section 8.1(d) or complete the Offer in the case of Section 8.1(f) is the result of a delay caused solely by the Company, then the Company shall pay to JAC a termination fee in the amount of \$300,000 within five (5) days of receipt of written notice of such termination. Payment to JAC of the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.3(c) will constitute the payment of liquidated damages as JAC's sole and exclusive remedy under such circumstances.
- (d) If this Agreement is terminated by JAC or the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(d) and the failure to either consummate the transaction in the case of Section 8.1(d) is the result of a delay caused solely by JAC, then JAC shall pay the Company a Termination Fee in the amount of \$300,000 within five (5) days of receipt of written notice of such termination. Payment to the Company of the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.3(d) will constitute the payment of liquidated damages as the Company's sole and exclusive remedy under such circumstances.
- (e) If this Agreement is terminated by JAC pursuant to Section 8.1(d) and (i) the failure to either consummate the transaction in the case of Section 8.1(d) is not the result of a delay caused solely by the Company and (ii) JAC initiates an alternate transaction (an "Alternate Transaction") with another operating company within 6 months of such termination, then JAC shall pay to the Company a Termination Fee in the amount of \$300,000 within five (5) after the date a filing with respect to the closing of such Alternate Transaction is filed with the SEC. Payment to the Company of the Termination Fee pursuant to this Section 8.3(e) will constitute the payment of liquidated damages as the Company's sole and exclusive remedy under such circumstances.

# Section 8.4. Amendment.

This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written agreement executed and delivered by duly authorized officers of the Parties. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except as provided in the immediately preceding sentence and any purported amendment by any Party or Parties effected in a manner which does not comply with this Section 8.4 shall be void.

#### Section 8.5. Extension; Waiver.

Subject to Section 8.1(d), at any time prior to the Closing, the Stockholders (on behalf of themselves and the Company) may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of JAC contained herein, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of JAC contained herein or in any document, certificate or writing delivered by JAC pursuant hereto or (c) waive compliance by JAC with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Subject to Section 8.1(d), at any time prior to the Closing, JAC may (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Company or the Stockholders contained herein, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the Company or the Stockholders contained herein or in any document, certificate or writing delivered by the Company or Stockholders pursuant hereto or (iii) waive compliance by the Company or the Stockholders with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of any Party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument duly authorized and executed on behalf of such Party. No course of dealing or other failure of any Party to assert any of its rights hereunder shall constitute a waiver of such rights.

# ARTICLE 9 INDEMNIFICATION

Section 9.1. Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

All of the representations and warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein shall survive the Closing and remain in full force and effect for the Survival Period; provided, however, that in all cases, (a) representations and warranties in respect of which an indemnification claim shall be pending as of the end of the applicable period referred to above shall survive with respect to such indemnification claim until the final disposition thereof and (b) all covenants and agreements that contemplate performance following the Closing shall survive in accordance with their respective terms as provided in this Agreement.

# Section 9.2. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification by Stockholders. Subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE 9, from and after the Closing, the Stockholders (the "Stockholders Indemnifying Party"), severally and not jointly, shall indemnify JAC, and each of its Affiliates and each of its respective Representatives, and successors and assigns, as the case may be (the "JAC Indemnified Parties") and hold each of them harmless from and against, and reimburse and pay each of them as actually incurred with respect to, any and all losses, liabilities, obligations, damages, deficiencies, actions, suits, proceedings, demands, assessments, judgments, penalties, diminutions in value, lost earnings, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of investigation, suffered or paid by them (collectively, "Losses") as a result and to the extent arising out of: (i) any breach of any representations or warranties by the Company or any Stockholder; and (ii) any breach by the Company or any Stockholder of any of its covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement that are required to be performed prior to the Closing Date ("JAC Indemnifiable Claims"). The JAC Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to indemnification (which may be asserted by the JAC Representative on behalf of JAC and the JAC Indemnified Parties) under this ARTICLE 9 (other than with respect to JAC Indemnifiable Claims under clauses (ii) or (iii) above) unless the aggregate of all of the Indemnifying Party's obligations to indemnify the JAC Indemnified Parties pursuant to this ARTICLE 9 exceeds \$1,000,000 (the "Basket"), and once this threshold has been exceeded, the Indemnifying Party shall indemnify the JAC Indemnified Parties for all of such obligations, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 9.3 hereof.

(b) Indemnification by JAC. Subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE 9, from and after the Closing, JAC (the "JAC Indemnifying Party" and collectively with the Stockholders Indemnifying Parties, the "Indemnifying Parties") shall indemnify the Stockholders and each of their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives, and successors and assigns, as the case may be (the "Stockholders Indemnified Parties" and together with the JAC Indemnified Parties, the "Indemnified Parties") and hold each of them harmless from and against, and reimburse and pay each of them as actually incurred with respect to, any and all Losses as a result and to the extent of a Third Party Claim arising out: (i) any breach of any representations or warranties by JAC and (ii) any breach by JAC of any of its covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement ("Stockholders Indemnifiable Claims", and collectively with the JAC Indemnifiable Claims, "Indemnifiable Claims").

#### Section 9.3. Limitations on Indemnification.

- (a) Other than with respect to Losses which were the result of fraud, a breach of a Company Fundamental Representation or a breach of a JAC Fundamental Representation, the maximum amount the Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to recover in the aggregate with respect to any and all Indemnifiable Claims shall be \$7,200,000. IN NO EVENT WILL THE COMPANY OR JAC BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, EVEN IF A PARTY HAS BEEN IS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.
- (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, upon any Indemnified Party becoming aware of any Indemnifiable Claim, such Indemnified Party shall utilize all reasonable efforts, consistent with normal practices and policies and good commercial practice, to mitigate such Losses. For purposes of this ARTICLE 9, all Losses shall be computed net of (i) any insurance proceeds actually received, (ii) any amounts recovered by the Indemnified Party or any of its respective Affiliates from any Person with respect to such Losses (whether under any agreement for indemnification, contribution or otherwise) and (iii) the amount of any Tax benefit actually realized, in each case by the Indemnified Party (as applicable, or any Affiliate thereof) that is attributable to the Losses to which such claim relates, and with respect to clause (iii) to the taxable period in which such Losses are incurred, treating any item of loss, deduction or credit as a result of such Losses as the last item used in such period, and taking into account any Tax detriment suffered by the Indemnified Parties as a result of such Losses and the receipt of the related indemnity payment (in the case of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), net of the cost and expense of obtaining any such benefits, proceeds, payments or reimbursements). The Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue, and to cause their respective Affiliates to pursue, all insurance claims, other third-party payments and Tax benefits to which it or they may be entitled in connection with any Losses incurred. If any Indemnified Party actually receives any insurance or other third party payment in connection with any claim for Losses for which it has already received a payment under this ARTICLE 9, it shall pay to the Stockholders or JAC, as applicable, within thirty (30) days after such payment is received, an amount equal to the excess of (x) the amount previously received by such Indemnified Party with respect to such claim plus the amount of such insurance or other third party payment, less the costs of collection and, if insurance proceeds are received, any increase in premiums directly caused by the receipt of such insurance proceeds, over (y) the amount of Losses to which JAC or the Stockholder, as applicable, has become entitled under this Agreement in connection with such claim. For purposes of this Agreement, "Third Party Claim(s)" shall mean any and all losses, liabilities, obligations, damages, deficiencies, actions, suits, proceedings, demands, assessments, judgments, penalties, diminutions in value, lost earnings, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of investigation brought by a third party.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, for the purpose of calculating the amount of any Losses incurred as a result of any breach of the representations and warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement, any qualification with respect to materiality, Company Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification shall be disregarded.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary set forth herein, the right to indemnification, payment of Losses or any other remedy based on representations, warranties or covenants will not be affected by any investigation conducted with respect to or any knowledge acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with, any such representation, warranty or covenant. No Indemnified Party shall be entitled to indemnification under this Section 9 with respect to the breach of any representations or warranties unless such Indemnified Party promptly provides notice of an indemnity claim, together with an explanation of the basis of the claim with reasonable specificity therefor, prior to the expiration of the applicable Survival Period.

#### Section 9.4. Indemnification Procedures.

(a) Indemnifying and Indemnified Parties. If an Indemnified Party shall receive notice of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall give JAC (with a copy to the JAC Representative) or Stockholders, on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties, notice of such Third Party Claim as soon as reasonably practicable following, and in any event within 30 days of, the receipt by the Indemnified Party of such notice. The Notice of Claim shall describe in reasonable detail the facts known to the Indemnified Party giving rise to such indemnification claim and the amount or good faith estimate of the amount arising therefrom. The failure of the Indemnifying Parties' obligations with respect thereto except to the extent that the Indemnifying Parties are materially prejudiced as a result of such failure.

(b) Defense of Claims. The Indemnifying Parties shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of any Third Party Claim through counsel of their choice (such counsel to be reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party) if (i) it gives notice of its intention to do so to the Indemnified Party within 30 days of receiving notice of the Third Party Claim,(ii) the Third Party Claim does not include criminal charges and (iii) if the Third Party Claim were to be decided adversely to the Indemnifying Party, such a decision could reasonably be expected to result in Losses for which the Indemnifying Party would be responsible for a greater portion of the Losses related to such Third Party Claim than the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Parties do not assume the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 9.4(c), the Indemnified Party may continue to defend the Third Party Claim. The Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Parties in such defense and make available to the Indemnifying Parties, at the Indemnified Party's expense, all witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Indemnified Party's possession or under the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Parties shall not, in the defense of a Third Party Claim, consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving to the Indemnified Party by the third party of a release from all liability with respect to such suit, claim, action, or proceeding.

# Section 9.5. Payment of Indemnification

In the event that any JAC Indemnified Parties are entitled to any indemnification pursuant to this ARTICLE 9, the Stockholders Indemnifying Parties may at their option either pay the amount of the indemnification (subject to the limitations set forth in this ARTICLE 9) (i) in cash or (ii) with JAC Shares valued at the Redemption Amount or if greater, their current fair market value. Any payments hereunder will be treated as an adjustment to the purchase price.

# Section 9.6. Exclusive Remedy.

Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Agreement to the contrary, indemnification pursuant to the provisions of this ARTICLE 9 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any claim resulting from a breach of the covenants, agreements, representations or warranties set forth in this Agreement, except (a) in the case of fraud, bad faith, gross or willful misconduct by any Person, (b) for any action seeking specific performance, declaratory judgment or injunctive relief and (c) for the avoidance of doubt, the remedies set forth in Section 2.5.

# Section 9.7. Liability of JAC Representative.

The JAC Representative will have no liability for any act done or omitted under this Agreement as the JAC Representative except to the extent that any act or omission constitutes fraud, bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct.

# ARTICLE 10 MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1. Entire Agreement; Assignment.

This Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the Confidentiality Agreement (a) constitute the entire agreement among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, including the Letter of Intent, and (b) shall not be assigned by any Party (whether by operation of law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of JAC and the Company.

#### Section 10.2. Notices

All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by generally recognized overnight courier, facsimile transmission, email (with electronic delivery confirmed) or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the other Parties as follows:

#### To JAC:

Jensyn Acquisition Corp. 800 West Main Street, Suite 204 Freehold, NJ 07728

Attention: Jeffrey J. Raymond Facsimile: (732) 303-6947

Email: jeff.raymond@jensyn.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to JAC) to:

Giordano, Halleran & Ciesla, P.C. 125 Half Mile Road, Suite 300

Red Bank, NJ 07701

Attention: Philip D. Forlenza, Esq.

Facsimile: (732) 224-6599

E-mail: pforlenza@ghclaw.com

# To the JAC Representative:

Jeffrey J. Raymond 800 West Main Street, Suite 204 Freehold, NJ 07728

Facsimile: (732) 303-6947

Email: jeff.raymond@jensyn.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to the JAC Representative) to:

Giordano, Halleran & Ciesla, P.C. 125 Half Mile Road, Suite 300

Red Bank, NJ 07701

Attention: Philip D. Forlenza, Esq.

Facsimile: (732) 224-6599

E-mail: pforlenza@ghclaw.com

To the Stockholders:

Jeffrey Peck 618 Brennan Woods Drive Williston, VT 05495

Facsimile: (802) 355-3850 Email: Jeff@peckelectric.com

Frederick Myrick
1 Hickory Lane
Essex Junction, VT 05452
Facsimile: (802) 343-9751
Email: Kip@peckeletric.com

Diane Cone and Neil Cone 1517 Belle Glades Way Sun City FL 33573

Facsimile: (941) 661-6078

Email: drcone120750@gmail.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to the Stockholders) to:

Robinson Brog Leinwand Greene Genovese & Gluck P.C.

875 Third Avenue, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor

New York, NY 10022

Attention: David E. Danovitch Email: ded@robinsonbrog,com

To the Company (prior to the Closing):

Peck Electric Co., Inc. 4050 Williston Road, #511 South Burlington, VT05403 Facsimile: ( ) \_\_-

Attention: Jeffrey Peck - Confidential Email: jeff@peckelectric.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to the Company) to:

Robinson Brog Leinwand Greene Genovese & Gluck P.C.

875 Third Avenue, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor

New York, NY 10022

Attention: David E. Danovitch Email: ded@robinsonbrog,com

or to such other address as the Party to whom notice is given may have previously furnished to the others in writing in the manner set forth above.

Section 10.3. Governing Law.

This Agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related in any way to this Agreement, the relationship of the Parties, the transaction leading to this Agreement or contemplated hereby and/or the interpretation and/or enforcement of the respective rights and duties of the Parties hereunder or related in any way to the foregoing, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal, substantive laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements entered into and to be performed solely within such state, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the law of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.

# Section 10.4. Fees and Expenses.

Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement or the Letter of Intent, whether or not the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants, shall be paid by the Party incurring such fees or expenses.

# Section 10.5. Construction; Interpretation.

The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. No Party, nor its respective counsel, shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement for purposes of construing the provisions hereof, and all provisions of this Agreement shall be construed according to their fair meaning and not strictly for or against any Party. Unless otherwise indicated to the contrary herein by the context or use thereof: (i) the words, "herein," "hereto," "hereof" and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, including the Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes, and not to any particular section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or clause contained in this Agreement; (ii) masculine gender shall also include the feminine and neutral genders, and vice versa; (iii) words importing the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa; (iv) references to a Person are also to its successors and permitted assigns; (v) the word "extent" in the phrase of "to the extent" shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean simply "if"; (vi) any reference to any month or any day period shall mean the calendar month or the calendar day period unless expressly specified otherwise and (vii) whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they are deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation".

#### Section 10.6. Exhibits and Schedules.

(a) All exhibits and Schedules, or documents expressly incorporated into this Agreement, are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and are hereby made a part hereof as if set out in full in this Agreement. Any item disclosed in any Schedule referenced by a particular section in this Agreement shall be deemed to have been disclosed with respect to every other section in this Agreement if the relevance of such disclosure to such other sections is reasonably apparent on its face. The specification of any dollar amount in the representations or warranties contained in this Agreement (or in any certificate delivered pursuant to Section 7.2(d) or Section 7.3(e), as the case may be) or the inclusion of any specific item in any Schedule is not intended to imply that such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no party shall use the fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation, items or matter not described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.

# Section 10.7. Parties in Interest.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each Party and its successors and permitted assigns and, except as provided in Section 6.11, nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this.

## Section 10.8. Severability.

Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any term or other provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable under applicable law, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party hereto. Upon such determination that any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable under applicable law, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of the Company or any Stockholder contained in this Agreement or the Schedules addresses a particular issue with specificity, and no breach by the Company or any Stockholder exists under such specific provision, the Company shall not be deemed to be in breach of any other provision of this Agreement (with respect to such issue) that addresses such issue with less specificity than such specific provision and if such specific provision is qualified or limited by the Company's Knowledge, or in any other manner, no other provision shall supersede or limit such qualification in any manner.

# Section 10.9. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures.

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by facsimile or scanned pages shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this Agreement.

#### Section 10.10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION (A) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR (B) IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO (INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO THE DEBT FINANCING), IN EACH CASE, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE. EACH PARTY HEREBY FURTHER AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY AND THAT THE PARTIES MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

## Section 10.11. Jurisdiction and Venue

Each of the Parties (a) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the State of New York, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, (b) agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in any such court and (c) agrees not to bring any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any other court. Each of the Parties waives any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding so. Each Party agrees that service of summons and complaint or any other process that might be served in any action or proceeding may be made on JAC by sending or delivering a copy of the process to the Party to be served at the address of the Party and in the manner provided for the giving of notices in Section 10.2. Nothing in this Section 10.11, however, shall affect the right of any Party to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by law. Each Party agrees that a final, non-appealable judgment in any action or proceeding so brought shall be conclusive and may be enforced by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.

# Section 10.12. Specific Performance

Each Party hereby acknowledges and agrees that irreparable damage would occur if any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms, and that in the event of breach of this Agreement by a Party, the non-breaching Party would not be adequately compensated in all cases by monetary damages alone. Accordingly, after such time as the Parties have agreed on the forms of each of the Ancillary Agreements, in addition to any other right or remedy to which the non-breaching Party may be entitled, it shall be entitled to enforce any provision of this Agreement by a decree of specific performance and to temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of any of the provisions of this Agreement, without posting any bond or other undertaking.

\* \* \* \* \*

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

45

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf as of the day and year first above written.

JAC
Jensyn Acquisition Corp.
Ву:
Name:
Title:
Stockholders
Jeffrey Peck
Frederick Myrick
·
Diane Cone
Neil Cone
Mooers Partners, LLC
Ву:
Richard L. Mooers
Branton Partners, LLC
Ву:
Roger G. Branton
Joseph Bobier
Corundum, AB
Dv.
By: Mats Wennberg
VEROMA, LLC
By: Michael d'Amato
Company
Peck Electric Co., Inc.
By:
Name:
Title:

# Schedule A

[to be provided]

47

## **VOTING AGREEMENT**

This Voting Agreement (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of this 20th day of June 2019 (the "Effective Date"), by and among The Peck Company Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), those certain holders of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, (the "Common Stock") listed on Exhibit A hereto (referred to hereinafter as the "Key Holders" and each individually as a "Key Holder") and Jeffrey Peck, CEO and Chairman of the Board and a substantial owner of the Common Stock (referred to hereinafter as the "Principal", and together with the Key Holders, the "Stockholders").

#### **RECITALS**

WHEREAS, under that certain Exchange Agreement dated as of February 26, 2019 (the "Exchange Agreement"), by and among Jensyn Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation ("JAC"), Peck Electric Co., a Vermont corporation (the "PEC"), and the stockholders of PEC (the "PEC Stockholders"), PEC Stockholders agreed to exchange their shares of capital stock in PEC for 3,234,501 shares of Common Stock (the "Share Exchange") representing approximately 59% of the Company's outstanding shares of Common Stock after giving effect to the business combination but without giving effect to the potential conversion of the Company's outstanding public shares of Common Stock to cash. Subsequent to the execution and delivery of the Exchange Agreement, the stockholders of JAC approved the business combination (the "Business Combination") contemplated by the Exchange Agreement.

WHEREAS, in connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, the Principal, the Key Holders and the Company desire to enter into this Agreement in order to provide for the future voting of shares of the Company's capital stock as set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, representations, warranties, covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company, the Key Holders and the Principal hereby agree to be bound by this Agreement, and each the parties hereto further agrees as follows:

#### 1. VOTING.

# 1.1 Board of Directors.

(a) <u>Director Elections</u>. Each of the Key Holders shall vote any and all shares of the Company's capital stock held by such Key Holder from time to time or over which such Key Holder has control (the "<u>Stockholder Shares</u>"), and shall take all other necessary or desirable actions within such Key Holder's control (whether in such Key Holder's capacity as a stockholder, director or officer of the Company or otherwise, subject to any applicable fiduciary duties owed to the Company), including, without limitation, calling meetings, attending and voting at meetings, executing a proxy to vote at any meeting, executing written consents to cause the election to the Company's board of directors (the "<u>Board</u>") of the persons designated by the Principal from time to time (each such person, a "<u>Principal Designee</u>"); provided that the election of each such person shall not be inconsistent with the rules of any securities exchange or trading market on which the Common Stock may then be listed for trading (any such rules, "<u>Trading Rules</u>"). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, but subject to the limitations set forth above, the Key Holders agree to take such action as may be necessary, in their capacity as stockholders or, if and as applicable, directors of the Company, to nominate such designee(s) for election by the stockholders of the Company as a director, and to cause the Board of Directors of the Company to recommend that the stockholders of the Company vote in favor of such election.

- (b) Removal; Vacancy. The Key Holders agree to take such action as may be necessary, in their capacity as stockholders or directors of the Company, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 1.1(a), to remove any Principal Designee that is a member of the Board promptly after receipt of direction from the Principal that the Principal desires to have a Principal Designee removed from the Board. In no other event (unless required by their fiduciary duty, law or Trading Rules) will the Key Holders seek the removal of a Principal Designee. The Key Holders agree that (i) if the Principal has a right to designate one or more directors pursuant to Section 1.1(a) to fill a vacancy on the Board, whether such vacancy existed on the date of this Agreement or resulted from the removal of such director, and (ii) the Principal provides written notice of the identity of the Principal Designee, that they shall promptly take such action consistent with the provisions of this Agreement and the Company's Bylaws to effect the election of such Principal Designee as soon as practicable, but in any event no later than seven (7) days after written notice is provided by the Principal to the Company and the Key Holders, which action will be taken either at a subsequent stockholders' or directors' meeting or, if and as applicable, action by written consent of the stockholders or directors, subject to any fiduciary duties owed by such directors to the Company.
- (c) <u>No Liability for Election of Recommended Director</u>. None of the Stockholders and no officer, director, stockholder, partner, employee or agent of any Stockholder makes any representation or warranty as to the fitness or competence of any Principal Designee to serve on the Board by virtue of such Stockholder's execution of this Agreement or by the act of such Stockholder in voting for such nominee pursuant to this Agreement.
- (d) Other Stockholder Action. At the request of the Principal, each of the Key Holders shall vote any and all Stockholder Shares held by such Key Holder from time to time or over which such Key Holder has control and shall take all other necessary or desirable actions within such Key Holder's control (whether in such Key Holder's capacity as a stockholder, director or officer of the Company or otherwise, subject to any applicable fiduciary duties owed to the Company), including, without limitation, calling meetings, attending and voting at meetings, executing a proxy to vote at any meeting, executing written consents to cause the approval, implementation, modification or termination of any matter or transaction recommended by any Principal Designee; provided that the applicable action shall not be inconsistent with the Trading Rules of any securities exchange or trading market on which the Company's common stock may then be listed for trading.

1.2 Covenants of the Company. Subject to any existing fiduciary duties, the Company agrees to use all reasonable efforts to ensure that the rights granted under this Agreement are effective and that the parties to this Agreement enjoy the benefits of such rights. Such actions include, without limitation, the use of the Company's reasonable efforts to assist in the nomination and election of the directors as provided above. Subject to any existing fiduciary duties, the Company shall not, by any voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to be performed under this Agreement by the Company, but shall at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all of the provisions of this Agreement and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary, appropriate, or reasonably requested by the Stockholders in order to protect the rights of the parties under this Agreement against impairment.

#### 2. TERMINATION.

2.1 Events of Termination. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect from the date hereof until the date on which the Principal shall hold [10%] or less of the shares of Common Stock it holds on the date of this Agreement.

### 3. MISCELLANEOUS.

- 3.1 Ownership Representations and Warranties.
- (a) <u>Key Holders</u>. Each Key Holder represents and warrants to the Principal and the Company that (i) such Key Holder is the sole owner of its Stockholder Shares, (ii) such Key Holder owns its Stockholder Shares free and clear of liens or encumbrances that would restrict such Key Holder from voting its Stockholder Shares in accordance with this Agreement, and has not, at any time on or prior to the Effective Date, executed or delivered any proxy or entered into any other voting agreement or similar arrangement with respect to its Stockholder Shares other than one which has expired or terminated prior to the Effective Date, and (iii) such Key Holder has full power and capacity to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement, which has been duly executed and delivered by, and evidences the valid and binding obligation of, such Key Holder enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, rehabilitation, liquidation, or similar laws now or hereafter in effect affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and except as the availability of equitable remedies may be limited by equitable principles of general applicability.

- (b) <u>Principal</u>. The Principal represents and warrants to the Key Holders and the Company that (i) such Principal is the sole owner of its Stockholder Shares, and (ii) such Principal has full power and capacity to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement, which has been duly executed and delivered by, and evidences the valid and binding obligation of, such Principal enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, rehabilitation, liquidation, or similar laws now or hereafter in effect affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and except as the availability of equitable remedies may be limited by equitable principles of general applicability.
- 3.2 Specific Performance. The parties hereto hereby declare that it is impossible to measure in money the damages which will accrue to a party hereto or to their heirs, personal representatives or assigns by reason of a failure to perform any of the obligations under this Agreement and agree that the terms of this Agreement shall be specifically enforceable. If any party hereto or his heirs, personal representatives or assigns institutes any action or proceeding to specifically enforce the provisions hereof, any person against whom such action or proceeding is brought hereby waives the claim or defense therein that such party or such personal representative has an adequate remedy at law, and such person shall not offer in any such action or proceeding the claim or defense that such remedy at law exists.
- 3.3 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed under, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflict of laws.
- 3.4 Amendment or Waiver. This Agreement may be amended or modified (or provisions of this Agreement waived either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) only with the written consent of the Principal, the Company and Key Holders holding in aggregate at least a majority of all Stockholder Shares held by all Key Holders. Any amendment or waiver so effected shall be binding upon the Company, each of the parties hereto and any assignee or successor of any such party whether or not any such party, successor or assignee entered into or approved such amendment.
- 3.5 <u>Severability</u>. In case any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, it shall to the extent practicable, be modified so as to make it valid, legal and enforceable and to retain as nearly as practicable the intent of the parties and the business agreement represented by such invalidated term, and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
- 3.6 <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors, assigns, administrators, executors and other legal representatives.
- 3.7 <u>Additional Shares</u>. In the event that subsequent to the Effective Date any shares or other securities are issued on, or in exchange for, any of the Stockholder Shares by reason of any stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, reclassification or the like, such shares or securities shall be deemed to be Stockholder Shares for purposes of this Agreement.

- 3.8 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Facsimile copies hereof may be executed as counterpart originals.
- 3.9 No Waiver. No waivers of any breach of this Agreement extended by any party hereto to any other party shall be construed as a waiver of any rights or remedies of any other party hereto or with respect to any subsequent breach.
- 3.10 Notices. All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent by confirmed electronic mail or facsimile if received during normal business hours of the recipient; if not, then on the next business day, or (c) one business day after deposit with an internationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the party to be notified at the address as set forth on the signature pages hereof or at such other address as such party may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other parties hereto.
- 3.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto) constitutes the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements or understandings with respect thereto.

[Signature Pages follow]

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Voting Agreement as of the date first above written.

	Addresses:
COMPANY	
The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.	
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
KEY HOLDERS	
Mooers Partners, LLC	
By:	
Richard L. Mooers	
Branton Partners, LLC	
By:	
Roger G. Branton	
Corundum, AB	
By:	
Mats Wennberg	
Veroma, LLC	
By:	
Michael d'Amato	
Joseph Bobier	
THE PRINCIPAL	
Jeffrey Peck:	
-6-	
-0-	

# EXHIBIT A

# LIST OF KEY HOLDERS

Mooers Partners, LLC Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB	Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Name	Common Stock Held
Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Branton Partners, LLC Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Marana Dantuana III C	
Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC	Corundum, AB Veroma, LLC		
Veroma, LLC	Veroma, LLC	Veroma, LLC		
	Joseph Bobier	Joseph Bobier		

# EXHIBIT 3 AGREEMENT AS TO JOINT FILING OF SCHEDULE 13D

In accordance with Rule 13d-1(k) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the undersigned agree that only one statement containing the information required by Schedule 13D and any further amendments thereto needs to be filed with respect to the beneficial ownership by each of the undersigned of the shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Common Stock") of The Peck Company Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Issuer"), and further agree that this Joint Filing Agreement be included as an exhibit to the Schedule 13D, provided that, as contemplated by Section 13d-1(k)(1)(ii), no person shall be responsible for the completeness or accuracy of the information concerning any other person making the filing, unless such person knows or has reason to believe that such information is inaccurate. This Agreement as to Joint Filing may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Dated: July 1, 2019

/s/ Jeffrey Peck

Jeffrey Peck, individually

VEROMA, LLC

By: /s/ Michael d'Amato

Name: Michael d'Amato Title: Managing Member

/s/ Michael d'Amato

Michael d'Amato, individually

**BRANTON PARTNERS, LLC** 

By: /s/ Roger G. Branton

Name: Roger G. Branton Title: Managing Member

/s/ Roger G. Branton

Roger G. Branton, individually

**MOOERS PARTNERS, LLC** 

By: /s/ Richard L. Mooers

Name: Richard L. Mooers Title: Managing Member

/s/ Richard L. Mooers

Richard L. Mooers, individually

**CORUNDUM AB** 

By: /s/ Mats Wennberg

Name: Mats Wennberg Title: Authorized Person

/s/ Joseph Bobier

Joseph Bobier, individually